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Our unique f ibre a dva n tage in terms 

of high strength, secure supply, and proximity to 

the forest resource has historically allowed us to 

consistently deliver more value.

Today, we are creating further competitive 

advantage by making targeted capital investments 

in our three mills, leveraging the proximity of our  

mills, and building a green energy business to deliver 

higher margins and a more stable revenue base.

Equally important is our goal to have less impact  

on the environment in the communities in which we 

participate. We see our environmental goals as 

complementary to our economic goals with both 

being critical to our long-term successes.

More Value,
Less impact.

For more information on our goal to have less impact, please see our  
Sustainability Supplement 2010, available on our website at canforpulp.com.



2010 was an exciting and highly successful year for Canfor Pulp. Strong softwood pulp markets combined with record operating 

rates and effective cost control measures propelled the Partnership to a record annual financial performance. Annual sales 

exceeded $1 billion and net income reached $178 million. The Partnership generated $207 million in cash available for distribution 

and distributed $183.9 million or $2.58 per unit to our unitholders.

Global softwood pulp producer inventories began the year at 23 days and remained below 27 days throughout. The tight pulp 

supply was exacerbated by an earthquake in February, which shut down most of Chile’s pulp production for several months. At 

the same time, the improving world economic conditions increased pulp demand which in turn, exerted upward pressures on pulp 

market prices. The list price of Northern bleached softwood kraft pulp delivered to North America, averaged US $968 per tonne 

for the year, the highest annual average price in the past 10 years.

Operating performance at the Partnership’s three mills continued to improve over prior years, with annual record daily production 

rates established for the combined operation and at each of the Northwood and Intercontinental pulp mills. The continued focus on cost 

control reduced average cash production costs to new record lows. Efforts were concentrated on developing qualifying capital projects 

eligible for funding up to $122.2 million by the federal government under the Pulp & Paper Green Transformation Program (“GTP”). 

During the year, the Partnership received funding approval for three significant projects. The fourth and final project was approved 

in early 2011. The approved GTP projects are expected to be completed well within the March 31, 2012 program spending deadline.  

In addition to environmental and energy consumption improvements, the approved GTP projects will provide economic benefits in 

subsequent years and position the operations for continued growth in green energy generating activities in the future.

The Board initiated a comprehensive strategic planning process in 2010 developing a phased approach for future growth, including  

(i) successfully implementing the GTP program projects, (ii) increasing green energy production, and (iii) evaluating growth 

opportunities to further increase returns and diversify risk.

With the change in Canadian income tax legislation, the conversion from a trust and income fund to a dividend paying public 

taxable Canadian corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. was completed on January 1, 2011.

We would like to thank our fellow Board members for their guidance and diligence. On behalf of the Board, we also thank 

our employees for their dedicated contribution to a very successful year and to thank you, our shareholders and investors, for your 

continued support.

Dr. Charles Jago	
Chairman of the Board, Canfor Pulp Products Inc. 
Chairman of the Board, Canfor Pulp Holding Inc. 
the general partner of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership
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To Our shareholders

Joe Nemeth	
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Canfor Pulp Holding Inc. 
the general partner of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership



			   2010	 2009	 2008	 2007

Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership
Sales and Income	 Sales	 $	 1,001.1 	  $	 813.5	 $	 825.5	 $	 921.6
(millions of dollars)	 Operating Income		  182.7		  12.0		  68.7		  134.3
			N   et Income		  178.0		  13.4		  46.8		  129.8
			   EBITDA1		  230.0		  61.8		  116.9		  188.5
			   EBITDA % Margin		  23.0%		  7.6%		  14.2%		  20.5%

Financial Position	 Total Assets	 $	 867.3	 $	 837.6	 $	 868.9	 $	 909
(millions of dollars)	 Partnership Equity		  523.3		  529.1		  534.4		  584.9
			   Total Capital Expenditures2		  51.2		  13.5		  34.7		  29.5

Additional Information	 Return on Partnership Equity3		  33.8%		  2.5%		  8.4%		  22.3%
					   
			   Current Assets/
			      Current Liabilities		  1.96		  2.04		  1.91		  1.88
			   Long-Term Debt/
			      Partnership Equity		  0.21		  0.22 		  0.25		  0.19

Per Partnership Unit	N et Income	 $	 2.50	 $	 0.19 	 $	 0.66	 $	 1.82
			D   istributions Declared	 $	 2.58	 $	 0.26 	 $	 1.36	 $	 1.84

Canfor Pulp Income Fund
Financial Position	 Total Assets	 $	 280.3	 $	 266.5	 $	 267.7	  $	 295.7
(millions of dollars)	 Unitholders’ Equity	  	 225.3		  226.4		  226.6 		  254.8
			N   et Income		  90.5		  9.1		  20.2 		  28.0

			   Return on Unitholders’ Equity3		  40.1%		  4.0%		  8.4%		  10.3%
					   
					   
Per Fund Unit4	N et Income	 $	 2.55	 $	 0.26	 $	 0.57	 $	 0.79
			D   istributions Declared	 $	 2.58	 $	 0.26	 $	 1.36	 $	 1.84

Unit Price4	 High	 $	 16.70 	 $	 8.98 	 $	 12.10	 $	 16.45
			   Low	 $	 7.47 	 $	 1.30 	  $	 2.01	 $	 8.29
			   Close – December 31	 $	 14.36 	 $	 8.75 	  $	 3.07	 $	 11.00

(1) 	� S e e P a g e 8 o f  th e M a n a g e m e nt ’s D i s c u s s i o n a n d A n a ly s i s f o r a d e t a i l e d d e f in i t i o n o f  E BI T D A .

( 2 )  C a p i t a l  e x p e n d i t ur e s f o r 2 010 in c l u d e m o n i e s s p e nt un d e r th e P ul p a n d P a p e r G r e e n Tr a n s f o r m at i o n P r o gr a m .

(3 )  N et in co m e d i v i d e d b y a v e r a g e to t a l  e q u i t y  d ur in g th e y e a r.

(4 )  C a nf o r P u l p In co m e Fun d U n i t s ( t r a d in g s y m b o l “C F X .UN ”)  ce a s e d t r a d in g o n th e To r o nto S to c k E xc h a n g e ( T S X )  o n J a n u a r y 6 ,  2 011 up o n th e l i s t in g o f  th e  

C a nf o r P u l p P r o d u c t s In c .  (C P P I)  s h a r e s in s ub s t i t u t i o n .  C P P I s h a r e s t r a d e o n th e T S X un d e r th e s y m b o l “C F X ”.
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Financial Highlights



BRITISH COLUMBIA
Canada

Fraser
River

Nechako
River

Prince George

2

1 3

45

Operations
On December 31, 2010 the Fund indirectly held a 49.8% interest in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (the Partnership). The Fund was 

converted into a dividend paying public taxable Canadian corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI), on January 1, 2011 

under the previously announced plan of arrangement approved by unitholders in April 2010. Under the arrangement, unitholders of 

the Fund received, for each unit of the Fund held, one common share of CPPI. The reorganization was completed with the winding 

up of the Fund and Trust.

The Partnership is the third largest global producer of market NBSK pulp, with annual production capacity of nearly 1.1 million 

tonnes, and is the leading producer of fully-bleached, high performance Kraft Paper.

	 	 	 	 Capacity (tonnes)	 Key Products

Mills
	 1	 Intercontinental	 330,000	 Pulp
	 2	 Northwood 	 600,000	 Pulp
	 3	 Prince George 	 150,000	 Pulp
	 3	 Prince George 	 140,000	 Kraft Paper
	
Other
	 4	 Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership / Canfor Pulp Products Inc. – Head Office
	 5	 Canfor Pulp Research and Development Centre

(see photo on opposite page)
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Operations
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The Pulp Business

unitholders

49.8%
14,254,005 Class A LP Units
21,239,537 Class B LP Units

100%

100%
35,493,307 Fund Units

50.2%
35,776,483 Class B  

  Exchangeable LP Units

100%

CANFOR pulp income fund  	
(Ontario)

Canfor Pulp Trust  	
(Ontario)

Canadian forest 	
products LTD.	
(British Columbia)

Canfor Corporation	
(British Columbia)

Canfor pulp limited partnership	
(Manitoba) and	

Canfor pulp Holding inc.	
(General Partner) (Canada)

OWNERSHIP structure as at december 31, 2010

new OWNERSHIP structure as of january 1, 2011

The Pulp Business

shareholders 	
(Formerly Unitholders)

49.8%
14,254,005 Class A LP Units
21,239,537 Class B LP Units

100%
35,493,307 Shares

50.2%
35,776,483 Class B  

  Exchangeable LP Units

100%

Canadian forest 	
products LTD.	
(British Columbia)

Canfor Corporation	
(British Columbia)

Canfor pulp limited partnership	
(Manitoba) and	

Canfor pulp Holding inc.	
(General Partner) (Canada)

CANFOR pulp products inc.	
(British Columbia)
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Ownership structure



ma


n
a

g
eme




n
t

’s
 d

iscussio








n
 

a
n

d
 a

n
al


y

sis


7

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Canfor Pulp Income Fund (the Fund) earned income from its 49.8% indirect interest in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (the 

Partnership). The Fund accounted for its investment in the Partnership on the equity basis and did not consolidate the operations 

of the Partnership. In order for the Fund’s unitholders to understand the results of operations, the audited consolidated financial 

statements with accompanying notes were presented for both the Fund and the Partnership. This Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis (MD&A) provides a review of the significant developments that have impacted the Partnership’s and the Fund’s 

performance for the year ended December 31, 2010 relative to the prior year. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the 

audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes for the Fund and the Partnership. Additional information relating 

to the Fund and the Partnership, including CPPI’s Annual Information Form (AIF) dated February 11, 2011, is available on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com or at www.canforpulp.com.

The Fund was converted into a dividend paying public taxable Canadian corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI), on 

January 1, 2011 under the previously announced plan of arrangement approved by unitholders in April 2010. Under the arrangement, 

unitholders of the Fund received, for each unit of the Fund held, one common share of CPPI. The reorganization was completed with 

the winding up of the Fund and Trust.

In this document, references are made to EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization and before 

other non-operating income and expenses) and adjusted distributable cash. The Partnership considers EBITDA to be an important 

indicator for identifying trends in the Partnership’s performance and of the Partnership’s ability to generate funds to meet its debt 

service, capital expenditure requirements, and to make cash distributions to its partners. Adjusted distributable cash is a measure 

of cash flow used by management to determine the level of cash distributions. EBITDA and adjusted distributable cash should not 

be considered as alternatives to net income or cash flow from operations as determined in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles. As there is no standardized method of calculating these measures, the Partnership’s use of these 

terms may not be directly comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies or income funds. 

Reconciliations of EBITDA and adjusted distributable cash are provided in a schedule at the end of this MD&A.

The information in this report is as at February 8, 2011.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this MD&A constitute “forward-looking statements” which involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties 

and other factors that may cause actual results to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 

expressed or implied by such statements. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “will”, “believes”, “seeks”, 

“estimates”, “should”, “may”, “could” and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-

looking statements. In some instances, material assumptions are disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A in respect of forward-looking 

statements. Other risks and uncertainties are detailed from time to time in reports filed by the Fund and/or CPPI with the securities 

regulatory authorities in all of the provinces and territories of Canada to which recipients of this MD&A are referred for additional 

information concerning the Fund, CPPI and the Partnership, their prospects and uncertainties relating to the Fund, CPPI and the 

Partnership. Although we believe that the expectations reflected by the forward-looking statements presented in this MD&A are 

reasonable, these forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations and beliefs and actual events or 

results may differ materially. New risk factors may arise from time to time and it is not possible for management to predict all of 

those risk factors or the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual events and results, performance and 

achievements of the Fund, CPPI and the Partnership to be materially different from those contained in forward-looking statements.  

The forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statement is made, are based on current information and 

expectations and the Fund, CPPI and the Partnership assume no obligation to update such information to reflect later events or 

developments, except as required by law.
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Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include statements made under:

•	 “Critical Accounting Estimates” on page 12;

•	 “Income Trust Conversion Rules” on page 13;

•	 “Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards” on page 13;

•	 “Outlook – Pulp” on page 17;

•	 “Outlook – Kraft Paper” on page 18;

•	 “Financial Requirements and Liquidity” on pages 20 to 22;

•	 “Capital Requirements” on page 25;

•	 “Critical Accounting Estimates” on page 27;

•	 “Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards” on pages 28 to 31;

•	 “Distributable Cash and Cash Distributions” on page 32.

Material risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A 

include: general economic, market and business conditions; product selling prices; raw material and operating costs; exchange rates; 

changes in law and public policy; and opportunities available to or pursued by the Fund and the Partnership. Additional information 

concerning these and other factors can be found in CPPI’s AIF dated February 11, 2011, which is available on www.sedar.com.

CANFOR PULP INCOME FUND

The Fund was an unincorporated open-ended trust established under the laws of Ontario on April 21, 2006, pursuant to the  

Fund Declaration. The principal head office of the Fund was located at 1700 West 75th Avenue, Vancouver, BC, Canada. The Fund was 

established to acquire and hold, through a wholly owned trust, the Canfor Pulp Trust (the Trust), investments in Limited Partnership 

Units of the Partnership. The general partner of the Partnership is Canfor Pulp Holding Inc. (the General Partner) and each limited 

partner holds an ownership interest in the General Partner equal to its proportionate interest in the Partnership. 

The Fund was converted into a dividend paying public taxable Canadian corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI), on 

January 1, 2011 under the previously announced plan of arrangement approved by unitholders in April 2010. Under the arrangement, 

unitholders of the Fund received, for each unit of the Fund held, one common share of CPPI. The reorganization was completed with 

the winding up of the Fund and Trust.

At February 8, 2011, there were a total of 35,493,307 CPPI shares issued and outstanding, and CPPI indirectly held a total of 

35,493,542 units of the Partnership, representing 49.8% of the Partnership. Canadian Forest Products Ltd. (Canfor) held 35,776,483 

Class B Exchangeable Limited Partnership Units, representing 50.2% of the Partnership. The Class B Exchangeable Limited 

Partnership Units are indirectly exchangeable for an equivalent number of CPPI shares pursuant to the terms of an amended 

exchange agreement (Exchange Agreement) dated January 1, 2011 among Canfor, CPPI, the Partnership and the General Partner. 

The Exchange Agreement contains, among other things, the procedure through which the Class B Exchangeable Limited Partnership 

Units may be exchanged for CPPI shares.

Prior to the January 1, 2011 conversion, each unitholder participated pro-rata in any distributions from the Fund. Under income 

tax legislation, income tax obligations related to the distributions of the Fund were the obligations of the unitholders and the Fund 

was only taxable on any amount not allocated to the unitholders. The shareholders of CPPI will participate pro-rata in any dividends 

from CPPI. It is the current intention of CPPI to designate any dividends paid on CPPI Shares to be “eligible dividends” to the extent 

permitted by the Canadian Income Tax Act such that individuals would benefit from the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit 

mechanism under the Canadian Income Tax Act.

2010 HIGHLIGHTS

•	D istributions totaled $91.6 million or $2.58 per Fund unit in 2010.

•	N et income of $90.5 million. 

•	 Completed announced conversion to a corporation under the Plan of Arrangement effective January 1, 2011.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

EQUITY INVESTMENT IN CANFOR PULP LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

The Fund’s equity investment in the Partnership was as follows:

	 	 	 Year ended	Y ear ended 
(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s)	 December 31, 2010	D ecember 31, 2009

Balance, beginning of year	 $	 263,644	 $	 266,274
Equity income of the Partnership	 	 88,643	 	 6,644
Equity interest in other comprehensive income (loss) of the Partnership	 	 26	 	 (45)
Distributions from the Partnership	 	 (91,573)	 	 (9,229)
Balance, end of year	 $	 260,740	 $	 263,644

The Fund’s investment in the Partnership units is recorded using the equity method.

SELECTED ANNUAL FUND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	 	 	 Year ended	Y ear ended	Y ear ended  
( th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t p e r un i t  a m o unt s ,  un a u d i te d)	 December 31, 2010	D ecember 31, 2009	D ecember 31, 2008

Equity income of the Partnership	 $	 88,643	 $	 6,644	 $	 23,280
Net income1	 	 90,491	 	 9,066		  20,204
Net income per Fund unit	 $	 2.55	 $	 0.26	 $	 0.57
Distributions earned from the Partnership and declared to unitholders	 	 91,573	 	 9,229		  48,271
Distributions declared per unit	 $	 2.58	 $	 0.26	 $	 1.36
Partnership adjusted distributable cash per unit2	 $	 2.91	 $	 0.43	 $	 1.35

(1) 	 In 2 010 th e Fun d r e co r d e d a n o n - c a s h f u t ur e in co m e t a x r e co v e r y o f  $1. 8 m i l l i o n co m p a r e d to $ 2 . 4 m i l l i o n in 2 0 0 9 a n d a n o n - c a s h f u t ur e in co m e t a x e x p e n s e o f  $ 3 .1 m i l l i o n 

in 2 0 0 8 ,  r e l a t in g to th e Fun d ’s 49. 8 % o w n e r s h ip in th e P a r tn e r s h ip a n d b a s e d o n te m p o r a r y d i f f e r e n ce s b et w e e n th e a cco unt in g a n d t a x b a s i s o f  th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s a s s et s a n d 

l i a b i l i t i e s e x p e c te d to r e v e r s e a f te r J a n u a r y 1,  2 011.

( 2 ) 	 Re p r e s e nt s th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s a d ju s te d d i s t r ib u t a b l e c a s h o n w h ic h th e Fun d w a s d e p e n d e nt to m a ke i t s  o w n d i s t r ib u t i o n s .  F o r f ur th e r d e t a i l s  o n th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s a d ju s te d 

d i s t r ib u t a b l e c a s h s e e th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s d i s c l o s ur e o n p a g e 3 2 .

2010 COMPARED TO 2009

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund had net income of $90.5 million, or $2.55 per unit compared to net income of  

$9.1 million, or $0.26 per unit for the year ended December 31, 2009. These results represent the Fund’s share of the Partnership’s 

earnings for the year, including a future income tax recovery of $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $2.4 million). 

The Fund’s improved results when compared to the prior year were due to the Fund’s share of increased operating earnings, partially 

offset by an increase in charges for non-operating items included in the equity income of the Partnership. The Fund’s share of higher 

operating earnings were primarily attributable to higher realized prices for the Partnership’s pulp and paper products, partially 

offset by higher fibre costs. The Fund’s share of non-operating charges included in equity income of the Partnership for 2010 totaled  

$2.3 million, and was primarily the result of interest expense and a foreign exchange loss on working capital, partially offset by a foreign 

exchange gain on translation of US dollar denominated long-term debt and a gain on derivative financial instruments. Distributions 

declared by the Partnership and accruing to the Fund were $91.6 million, or $2.58 per Fund unit of which $19.5 million was receivable 

at December 31, 2010 as compared to $9.2 million, or $0.26 per Fund unit of which $2.8 million was receivable at December 31, 2009.

2010 COMPARED TO 2008

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Fund had net income of $90.5 million, or $2.55 per unit compared to net income of  

$20.2 million, or $0.57 per unit for the year ended December 31, 2008. These results represent the Fund’s share of the Partnership’s 

earnings for the year, including a future income tax recovery of $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2008, future 

income tax expense – $3.1 million). The increase in earnings when compared to 2008 was primarily due to the Fund’s share of 

improved operating earnings of the Partnership. The Partnership’s higher operating earnings were primarily attributable to higher 

realized pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms, higher shipment volumes, lower unit manufacturing costs and higher energy sales, 

which were partially offset by lower realized paper prices in Canadian dollar terms. Distributions declared by the Partnership 

and accruing to the Fund were $91.6 million, or $2.58 per Fund unit of which $19.5 million was receivable at December 31, 2010 as 

compared to $48.3 million, or $1.36 per Fund unit of which $1.4 million was receivable at December 31, 2008.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FUND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	 	 	 	 Q4	Q 3	Q 2	Q 1	Q 4	Q 3	Q 2	Q 1 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts, unaudited)	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2009	 2009	 2009	 2009

Equity income (loss)  
	 in the Partnership	 	 $	23,867	 $	 27,124	 $	21,430	 $	16,222	 $	 7,562	 $	 9,098	 $	 724	 $	(10,740)
Net income (loss)	 	 	 23,935	 	 27,901		  22,111		  16,544		  6,903		  8,497		  4,406		  (10,740)
Net income (loss) per Fund unit	 	 $	 0.67	 $	 0.79	 $	 0.62	 $	 0.47	 $	 0.20	 $	 0.24	 $	 0.12	 $	 (0.30)
Distributions earned from the  
Partnership and declared to unitholders	 	 37,268	 	 24,491	 	 18,457		  11,357		  4,969		  1,065		  1,065		  2,130
Distributions declared per Fund unit	 	 $	 1.05	 $	 0.69	 $	 0.52	 $	 0.32	 $	 0.14	 $	 0.03	 $	 0.03	 $	 0.06
Partnership adjusted distributable cash  
	 per unit1	 	 $	 0.68	 $	 0.78	 $	 0.88	 $	 0.57	 $	 0.31	 $	 0.16	 $	 0.02	 $	 (0.06)

(1) 	 Re p r e s e nt s th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s a d ju s te d d i s t r ib u t a b l e c a s h f o r w h ic h th e Fun d w a s d e p e n d e nt o n to m a ke i t s  o w n d i s t r ib u t i o n s .  F o r f ur th e r d e t a i l s  o n th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s 

a d ju s te d d i s t r ib u t a b l e c a s h s e e th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s d i s c l o s ur e o n p a g e 3 2 .

FOURTH QUARTER 2010 RESULTS

For the quarter ended December 31, 2010, the Fund had net income of $23.9 million or $0.67 per unit. The net income was the Fund’s 

share of the Partnership’s net income for the fourth quarter of 2010 and includes a future income tax recovery of $0.1 million. The 

Fund’s share of non-operating items included in equity income of the Partnership for the fourth quarter of 2010 was $0.6 million, 

and was primarily the result of a foreign exchange gain on translation of US dollar denominated long-term debt and a gain on 

derivative financial instruments, partially offset by a foreign exchange loss on working capital and interest expense. Distributions 

declared by the Partnership and accruing to the Fund were $37.3 million of which $19.5 million was receivable at December 31, 2010. 

Cash distributions received from the Partnership were the only source of liquidity for the Fund. The Fund’s requirements for 

administrative services were minimal and were funded and expensed by the Partnership.

FUND DISTRIBUTIONS

The Fund was entirely dependent on distributions from the Partnership to make its own distributions and declared distributions on 

a monthly basis with the record date on the last business day of each month and payable within the 15 days following. Distributions 

payable by the Partnership to the Fund and distributions payable by the Fund to its unitholders were recorded when declared.  

During 2010, the Fund declared distributions of $2.58 per Fund unit or $91.6 million. 

Monthly cash distributions from the Partnership were not directly equal to the Fund’s pro-rata share of the Partnership’s income 

(loss) under the equity method. This is primarily due to capital expenditures, foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US 

dollar denominated debt, changes in value of derivative instruments, amortization, and other non-cash expenses of the Partnership.

CPPI SHARES

At February 8, 2011, there were a total of 35,493,307 CPPI shares outstanding as a result of the aforementioned conversion of the 

Fund on January 1, 2011.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATED TO THE STRUCTURE OF THE FUND

Control of the Partnership

Pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement, Canfor is entitled to appoint the majority of directors to the board of the General Partner 

for so long as it owns not less than a 30% interest in the Partnership. For so long as Canfor holds not less than a 20% interest in the 

Partnership, Canfor’s consent will be required in order to approve certain significant transactions of the Partnership. In addition, 

under the amended Exchange Agreement, CPPI agreed not to take certain actions without the prior approval of Canfor. As a result 

of these rights, Canfor will exercise significant influence or control over transactions submitted to the board of the General Partner 

and of CPPI. Canfor may have sufficient voting power to prevent a change of control of the Partnership. CPPI has an indirect interest 

in the Partnership and has influence, but not control over the transactions of the Partnership.

The interests of Canfor may conflict with those of CPPI shareholders.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Dependence on the Partnership

The Fund was and CPPI is entirely dependent on the operations and assets of the Partnership. Cash dividends will be dependent 

on, among other things, the ability of the Partnership to make cash distributions. The ability of CPPI to make cash dividends or 

other payments or advances is subject to applicable laws and regulations and contractual restrictions contained in the instruments 

governing any indebtedness of those entities.

Cash Dividends are not Guaranteed and will Fluctuate with the Business Performance

Although CPPI intends to pay dividends in respect of the cash distributions received from the Partnership, less income taxes and 

expenses, there can be no assurance regarding the amount of income to be generated by the Partnership’s business or ultimately 

the cash distributed to CPPI. The ability of CPPI to pay cash dividends, and the actual amount paid, will be entirely dependent on the 

operations and assets of the Partnership, and will be subject to various factors including its financial performance, its obligations 

under applicable credit facilities, fluctuations in its working capital and its capital expenditure requirements. Accordingly, there is 

no assurance that dividends will be maintained at current levels. The market value of CPPI shares may deteriorate if CPPI is unable 

to maintain its dividend levels in the future.

Future Income Taxes

Future income tax assets and liabilities were determined based on the difference between the tax basis of the Fund’s and the 

Partnership’s assets and liabilities and the respective amounts reported in the financial statements. Future tax assets or liabilities 

were calculated using the substantively enacted tax rates for the periods in which the differences are expected to be settled. Future 

tax assets were recognized to the extent that they were considered more likely than not to be realized.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All accounting, treasury, legal and administrative functions for the Fund were performed on its behalf, without charge, by the 

Partnership pursuant to a support agreement. Distributions earned from the Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2010 were 

$91.6 million of which $72.1 million was received, with the balance of $19.5 million receivable on December 31, 2010. Distributions 

earned from the Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2009 were $9.2 million of which $6.4 million was received, with the 

balance of $2.8 million receivable on December 31, 2009.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recorded in the financial statements. Management regularly reviews 

these estimates and assumptions based on currently available information. Significant areas requiring the use of management’s 

estimates are the determination of future income taxes, and assessing whether there has been an other than temporary decline in 

the value of the investment in the Partnership. The determination of the future income tax liability requires management to estimate 

the future impacts of the Partnership’s amortization of capital assets, capital cost allowance claims for tax purposes, and changes 

to actuarial estimates of employee benefit plans. The Fund accounted for its investment in the Partnership using the equity method.  

The Fund analyzed the carrying value of its investment in the Partnership by considering the underlying value of the Partnership’s 

business. This assessment included various long-term assumptions related to the Partnership’s operations which may not have 

been reflected in the market value of the Fund. Changes in these estimates could have a material impact on the calculation of the 

future income tax liability or equity investment in the Partnership.
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INCOME TRUST CONVERSION RULES

On June 12, 2007, legislation was substantively enacted whereby distributions made by publicly traded income trusts and partnerships 

will be taxed similar to that of income earned and distributed by a corporation. The Specified Investment Flow-Through Trust (SIFT) Tax 

became effective on January 1, 2011. On March 12, 2009 the Canadian government enacted legislation (SIFT Conversion Rules) which 

enables the conversion of a SIFT into a corporation on a tax-free rollover basis, prior to 2013. 

The conversion of the Fund into a dividend paying public corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI) has been 

completed effective January 1, 2011 under the previously announced plan of arrangement approved by unitholders in April 2010. 

Under the arrangement, unitholders of the Fund received, for each unit of the Fund held, one common share of CPPI.

CONVERSION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

On February 13, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board announced that publicly accountable entities will be required to prepare 

financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for interim and annual financial 

statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. CPPI (as the continuing operations of the Canfor Pulp Income Fund) 

converted to IFRS effective January 1, 2011.

CPPI will rely on the resources of the Partnership to ensure compliance with IFRS. The Partnership will continue to review  

all proposed and continuing projects of the International Accounting Standards Board to determine their impact on CPPI, and will 

continue to invest in training and resources to ensure CPPI is making the appropriate judgments and following the IFRS accounting 

policies selected.

A detailed IFRS transition analysis has been substantively completed for CPPI and no significant changes compared to Canadian 

GAAP are expected for CPPI’s 2011 consolidated financial statements other than potentially more detailed disclosure requirements. 

The impact on CPPI’s future financial position and results of operations is primarily dependent on changes in accounting policies 

that may materially impact the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements.  

For further details on the Partnership’s transition plan see the Partnership’s disclosure on pages 28 through 31.

The Partnership is currently finalizing its analysis to determine the significant IFRS transition impacts on the Fund’s IFRS 

Opening Balance Sheet and the 2010 comparative numbers prior to conversion to a Corporation (CPPI).  As  a result of the specific 

characteristics of an Income Fund, the Partnership is focusing on  the impact of International Accounting Standard (IAS 32) “Financial 

Instruments: Presentation” and IAS 12 “Income Taxes” on the Fund’s Opening Balance Sheet and the 2010 comparative numbers.

As a result of the conversion to a corporation effective January 1, 2011, the items discussed below will not be expected to have a 

material impact on CPPI’s 2011 consolidated financial statements:

•	 While under Canadian GAAP the Fund units were classified as equity, the Partnership expects that IAS 32 will require that the 

Fund units be classified as a current financial liability under IFRS prior to conversion to a Corporation.

•	 Under Canadian GAAP the Fund recorded temporary tax differences that are expected to reverse after 2010 based on 

specified investment flow through entity (“SIFT”) tax rates. However, IAS 12 requires that companies should generally use  

the “undistributed” rate for recording taxes. Therefore, under IFRS the rate to apply to temporary differences existing on 

January 1, 2010 that are expected to reverse after 2010 would be the highest marginal personal tax rate rather than the SIFT 

rate. The highest marginal personal tax rate is the rate at which tax would be payable by the Fund should distributions not 

be declared. Subsequent to January 1, 2011 as a result of the conversion of the Fund into a Corporation, the temporary tax 

differences are to be measured at the corporate tax rate.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Fund’s financial instruments consisted of distributions receivable from the Partnership and distributions payable to unitholders.  

The fair values of these financial instruments approximated their carrying values due to the relatively short period to maturity of 

these instruments.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

CANFOR PULP LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Structure

The Partnership is a limited partnership formed on April 21, 2006, under the laws of Manitoba to acquire and carry on the Northern 

Bleached Softwood Kraft (NBSK) pulp and paper business of Canfor. The business consists of two NBSK pulp mills and one NBSK 

pulp and paper mill located in Prince George, BC and a marketing group based in Vancouver, BC (the Pulp Business).

The conversion of the Fund into a dividend paying public corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI) has been completed 

effective January 1, 2011 under the previously announced plan of arrangement approved by unitholders in April 2010. Under the 

arrangement, unitholders of the Fund received, for each unit of the Fund held, one common share of CPPI. Simplified schematics of the 

ownership structure as at December 31, 2010 and after the conversion as at January 1, 2011, appear on page 6.

At February 8, 2011, CPPI indirectly held a total of 14,254,005 Class A Limited Partnership Units and 21,239,537 Class B Limited 

Partnership Units, representing 49.8% of the Partnership and Canfor owns the remaining 50.2%. The Partnership is managed, on 

behalf of the limited partners, by Canfor Pulp Holding Inc., the General Partner.

The Business

The Partnership is a leading global supplier of pulp and paper products with operations based in the central interior of British Columbia.  

The Partnership’s strategy is to maximize cash flows and enhance the value of its assets by:

(i)	 preserving its low-cost operating position, 

(ii)	 maintaining the premium quality of its products, and 

(iii)	 opportunistically acquiring high quality assets.

The Partnership owns and operates three mills with annual capacity to produce over one million tonnes of northern softwood 

market kraft pulp, 90% of which is bleached to become NBSK pulp for sale to the market, and approximately 140,000 tonnes of  

kraft paper.

2010 HIGHLIGHTS

•	G enerated record EBITDA of $230.0 million and record sales of $1.0 billion.

•	D istributed $183.9 million or $2.58 per Partnership unit. 

•	 Achieved average total daily production rate record.

•	 Received approval from the Canadian Federal government to proceed with three Green Transformation projects totaling  

$115.6 million for reimbursement of funds to be spent by March 31, 2012 on qualifying energy and environmental capital projects.

•	 Energy sales under the terms of the Energy Purchase Agreement with BC Hydro totaled $5.4 million in 2010.
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Selected Annual Information
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s e xce p t v o l um e s a n d p e r un i t  a m o unt s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 2010	 2009	 2008

Sales volume – major products
	 Pulp – thousands of metric tonnes		  1,039.0		  1,044.6		  905.4 
	 Paper – thousands of metric tonnes	  	 144.7	  	 135.0	  	 124.8 

Sales by segment
	 Pulp	 $	 857.2	 $	 690.0	 $	 695.2 
	 Paper	  	 142.6	  	 122.5	  	 130.3 
	 Unallocated	 	 1.3	 	 1.0		  –
Total sales	  	 1,001.1	  	 813.5	  	 825.5 

Operating income
	 Pulp	 $	 198.1	 $	 11.7	 $	 72.5 
	 Paper	  	 0.5	  	 10.6	  	 9.4 
	 Unallocated costs	  	 (15.9)	  	 (10.3)	  	 (13.2) 
Total operating income	  	 182.7	  	 12.0	  	 68.7 

EBITDA
	 Pulp	 $	 242.1	 $	 57.9	 $	 116.7
	 Paper	 	 3.5	 	 13.9		  13.1
	 Unallocated costs	  	 (15.6)	 	 (10.0)		  (12.9)
	 Total EBITDA	  	 230.0	 	 61.8		  116.9
Net income		  178.0	  	 13.4	  	 46.8
Net income per Partnership unit, basic and diluted	 $	 2.50	 $	 0.19	 $	 0.66

Total assets	 $	 867.3	 $	 837.6	 $	 868.9
Total long-term debt	 	 109.4	  	 115.1	  	 134.7

Adjusted distributable cash	 $	 207.1	 $	 30.5	 $	 96.1
Distributions declared	 	 183.9	 	 18.6		  96.9
Distributions declared per unit	 $	 2.58	 $	 0.26	 $	 1.36
Average exchange rate (US$/Cdn$)1	 	 0.971	  	 0.876	  	 0.938

(1) 	 S o ur ce – B a n k o f  C a n a d a (a v e r a g e n o o n r a te f o r th e y e a r )

2010 Compared to 2009

Net income and EBITDA for 2010 increased by $164.6 million and by $168.2 million respectively over 2009. The increase in 2010 

results were primarily attributable to higher realized prices in Canadian dollar terms for the Partnership’s products and higher 

energy sales, partially offset by higher fibre costs. Realized pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms were 25% higher when compared 

to 2009 as a 34% increase in NBSK pulp US dollar list prices and increased sales volume into higher margin end uses, were partially 

offset by a 11% strengthening of the Canadian dollar. Realized paper prices in Canadian dollar terms increased 9% when compared 

to 2009. Unit manufacturing costs increased marginally when compared to 2009 due to higher fibre costs, partially offset by the 

impact of higher production volumes. Fibre costs increased 8% when compared to 2009 due to higher prices for sawmill residual 

chips which are partly tied to pulp prices, partially offset by a reduction in the price and volume of whole log chips. Energy sales 

increased when compared to 2009 as the energy agreement with B.C. Hydro effective September 2009, was in effect for the full year 

2010. Non-operating charges, included in net income of the Partnership totaled $4.7 million in 2010, which represents an increase 

of $6.1 million when compared to 2009. The increase in non-operating charges is primarily the result of a reduction in foreign 

exchange gain on translation of US dollar denominated long-term debt, partially offset by gains on financial derivative instruments, 

a reduction in foreign exchange losses on working capital and lower net interest expense.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

2010 Compared to 2008

Net income and EBITDA for 2010 increased by $131.2 million and $113.1 million respectively when compared to 2008. The improved 

results in 2010 were attributable to higher realized pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms, higher sales volumes, lower unit 

manufacturing costs and higher energy sales, which were partially offset by lower realized paper prices in Canadian dollar terms.  

Realized pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms increased by 7% from 2008, as a 12% increase in NBSK pulp US dollar list prices was 

partially offset by the stronger Canadian dollar. Realized paper prices in Canadian dollar terms decreased by 5% when compared  

to 2008. Sales volumes for NBSK market pulp in 2010 were 133,600 tonnes or 15% higher than 2008 and paper sales volumes were up 

19,900 tonnes or 16% when compared to 2008. The increased shipment levels were attributable to additional market pulp available 

as a result of increased production from the Partnership’s facilities, strong global softwood demand and the impact of deteriorating 

market conditions in the last quarter of 2008 as a result of the global economic recession. Unit manufacturing costs decreased 9% 

when compared to 2008 as a result of lower fibre, chemical and energy prices and the impact of higher production volumes. Fibre 

costs decreased by approximately 6% when compared to 2008 due to lower prices and volumes of higher cost whole log chips.  

Non-operating charges, included in net income of the Partnership totaled $4.7 million in 2010, which represents a reduction in 

charges of $17.2 million when compared to 2008. The reduced non-operating charges are primarily the result of a foreign exchange 

gain on translation of US dollar denominated long-term debt and reduced losses on financial derivative instruments, partially offset 

by a foreign exchange loss on working capital.

OPERATING RESULTS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

Pulp 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d ,  un a u d i te d) 	 2010	 2009

Sales 	 $	 857.2	 $	 690.0
EBITDA 	 	 242.1	 	 57.9
EBITDA margin 	 	 28%	 	 8%
Operating income 	 $	 198.1	 $	 11.7
Average NBSK pulp list price – (US$ per tonne, delivered to USA) 	 $	 960	 $	 718
Average NBSK pulp list price – (Cdn$ per tonne, delivered to USA)		  989	 	 820
Production – pulp (000 mt)	 	 1,032.0	 	 1,006.8
Shipments – Partnership produced pulp (000 mt)	 	 1,039.0	 	 1,044.6
Marketed on behalf of HSLP & Canfor (000 mt)	 	 457.8	 	 521.7

For the year ended December 31, 2010, operating income of $198.1 million was $186.4 million higher than in 2009. The improved 

operating results were attributable to higher realized prices in Canadian dollar terms and higher energy sales, partially offset by 

higher unit manufacturing costs. Realized pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms were 25% higher when compared to 2009 as a 34% 

increase in NBSK pulp US dollar list price and increased sales volumes into higher margin end uses, were partially offset by an 

11% stronger Canadian dollar. Energy sales under the terms of the Energy Purchase Agreement with BC Hydro totaling $5.4 million 

in 2010 (2009 – $1.9 million) were included in the pulp segment sales. Unit manufacturing costs increased by 1% when compared 

to 2009 as a result of higher fibre and maintenance costs, which were partially offset by the impact of higher production volumes 

and lower chemical costs. Fibre costs increased 8% when compared to 2009 due to higher prices for sawmill residual chips which 

are partly tied to pulp prices, partially offset by a reduction in the price and volume of higher cost whole log chips. Market pulp 

production increased by 25,200 tonnes or 3%, and was mainly the result of strong operating rates at all facilities. Sales volumes of 

NBSK market pulp decreased 5,600 tonnes when compared to 2009 as a reduction in shipments to China were partially offset by 

increased shipments to North America.
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Operations

An average daily production rate record was achieved on a combined basis for the Partnership’s facilities in 2010, exceeding the 

previous record set in 2007 by 2%. In addition, the Northwood and Intercontinental Pulp Mills surpassed previous records for 

average daily production rates.

NBSK market pulp production during 2010 was 25,200 tonnes higher than in 2009. The increased production was mainly 

attributable to a 4% increase in the average daily production rate in 2010, partially offset by an overall reduction in operating days 

in 2010 due to extended maintenance outages at the Prince George and Northwood Pulp Mills.

Markets – Pulp 

Tight market conditions through 2010 kept inventories held by producers and customers at levels in a range that is considered to be 

low to balanced. Price increases were supported through the first half of 2010 as a result of constrained supply and strong printing 

and writing paper demand. Pulp and Paper Products Council (PPPC) statistics reported an increase in global demand for printing 

and writing papers of 6% for full year 2010 as compared to 2009. PPPC reported an increase in global production for tissue of 1% for 

November year-to-date 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009.

The tight supply conditions and low producer inventory levels through the second half of 2009 were prolonged as a result of 

the Chilean earthquake on February 27, 2010 that impacted approximately 8% of global softwood pulp supply. In addition, restarts 

of pulp mills idled during 2009 were delayed until late in 2010.

The improvement in consumption and constrained supply resulted in stabilizing global softwood inventories at a relatively 

low level. At the end of December 2010, World 201 producers of bleached softwood pulp inventories were at 25 days of supply. By 

comparison, December 2009 inventories were at 23 days of supply. Market conditions are generally considered balanced when 

inventories fall in the 27-30 days of supply range.

As a result of these tight market conditions, producers were successful at implementing price increases through the first half 

of 2010. North American US list prices peaked in July 2010 at US$1020 per tonne, an increase of 60% from the low in April 2009 of 

US$635 per tonne. Modest downward pressure was exerted on pricing in the latter half of 2010 with the restarts of the majority of 

the Chilean pulp mills after the earthquake and two idled North American pulp mills. North American NBSK pulp list prices closed 

2010 at US$960 per tonne representing a US$60 per tonne decrease from the peak in 2010, however, when compared to the same 

period in 2009, pricing was up US$110 per tonne or 13%. In Canadian dollar terms the price increases were somewhat mitigated by 

the strengthening of the Canadian dollar during 2010.

Outlook – Pulp 

The global softwood pulp market is expected to remain balanced through the first quarter of 2011 with inventory stocks in a range 

that is expected to support current pricing levels. Demand remains solid with continued strong shipments into China and sustained 

demand in the North America Printing and Writing paper sector. Pulp mill operating rates are expected to increase in January and 

February with minimal scheduled downtime and as previously idled mills reach full capacity. However, in the second quarter of 

2011, annual maintenance downtime coupled with extended outages due to several large capital projects in Canada funded under 

the Canadian Federal government Green Transformation Program, are expected to curtail supply. Any relative weakness of the US 

dollar versus the Canadian dollar and the Euro also is expected to exert upward pressure on US dollar list prices.

There are no scheduled maintenance outages planned for the first quarter of 2011. Scheduled maintenance outages are 

planned at the Prince George and Intercontinental Pulp Mills in the second quarter of 2011 with an estimated 10,000 tonnes of 

reduced production. A maintenance outage is planned at the Northwood Pulp Mill in the third quarter of 2011 which will be extended 

to complete work and commissioning of the recovery boiler upgrade project funded under the Canadian Federal government’s Green 

Transformation Program, with a total of 40,000 tonnes of estimated reduced production.

(1) 	 Wo r l d 2 0 d a t a i s  b a s e d o n t w e nt y p r o d u c in g co untr i e s r e p r e s e nt in g 8 0 % o f  w o r l d c h e m ic a l  m a r ket p u l p c a p a c i t y  a n d i s  b a s e d o n in f o r m at i o n co m p i l e d a n d p r e p a r e d b y th e 

P ul p a n d P a p e r P r o d u c t s C o un c i l .
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Paper 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d ,  un a u d i te d) 	 2010	 2009

Sales		 $	 142.6	 $	 122.5
EBITDA	 $	 3.5	 $	 13.9
EBITDA margin	 	 2%	 	 11%
Operating income	 $	 0.5	 $	 10.6
Production – paper (000 mt)	 	 136.7	 	 131.0
Shipments – paper (000 mt)	 	 144.7	 	 135.0

The 2010 operating results for the paper segment were $10.1 million lower when compared to 2009. The decrease was 

primarily attributable to higher costs for slush pulp, partially offset by a 9% increase of realized prices in Canadian dollar terms 

and higher shipment volumes. Slush pulp costs, which are transferred to the paper segment at market price, increased 35% when 

compared to 2009. Partially offsetting the higher slush pulp costs was the impact of higher production volumes on unit costs. Paper 

shipments increased by 7% when compared to 2009.

Operations

The paper division produced a record 136,700 tonnes in 2010, an increase of 5,700 tonnes when compared to 2009. The increase was 

attributable to a record average daily production rate achieved in 2010 and an increase in operating days, mainly attributable to the 

impact of the market curtailment, which commenced in the third week of December 2008 and extended into January 2009.

Markets

Kraft paper demand remained strong through the end of the year and paper markets were balanced with supply. American Forest 

and Paper Association reported that US total Kraft paper shipments for December 2010 were unchanged from November and 

increased 1% when compared to December 2009. Full year 2010 shipments were 10% higher when compared to 2009. The Pulp 

Shipping Sack Manufacturers’ Association shipping sack statistics for December reveal that industry paper consumption was up 3% 

from the previous month, and increased 7% for full year 2010 when compared to 2009. During the latter half of 2010, North American 

prices remained relatively stable while export prices continued to increase.

The Partnership’s prime paper shipments in the fourth quarter of 2010 increased 18% from the third quarter of 2010. For the 

full year 2010, prime paper shipments increased 11% and prime bleached shipments increased by 32% when compared to 2009.

 

Outlook – kraft paper 

Kraft paper demand is currently strong and the supply/demand balance is expected to remain positive through the first quarter of 

2011. Prices are expected to remain stable through the first quarter of 2011 with some potential for modest price increases as higher 

than expected consumer spending in the latter half of 2010 is representative of demand growth which may provide pricing momentum 

heading into 2011. The Partnership’s prices in US dollar terms are vulnerable to the relative strength of the Canadian dollar in relation 

to other currencies, primarily the US dollar.

Non-Segmented Costs 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 2010	 2009

Net unallocated costs	 $	 15.9	 $	 10.3
Interest expense, net	 	 7.8	 	 10.1
Foreign exchange gain on long-term debt	 	 (5.7)	 	 (19.6)
Loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments	 	 (1.5)	 	 1.5
Foreign exchange loss on working capital	 	 4.0	 	 6.7
Other expense (income)	 	 0.1	 	 (0.1)
	 	 	 $	 20.6	 $	 8.9
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Unallocated Costs 

Unallocated costs, comprised principally of general and administrative expenses, for 2010 of $15.9 million were $5.6 million higher 

than the same period a year ago. The increased costs were primarily attributable to higher accruals for performance based incentive 

plans, higher consulting costs and corporate conversion expenses, which were partially offset by a one-time fee received in respect 

of the termination of the agency sales agreement with HSLP due to the sale by Canfor of its ownership interest in HSLP.

Interest Expense 

The lower net interest expense in 2010 was due to a reduction in borrowing costs as a result of lower requirements to fund short-

term working capital than in 2009.

Other Non-segmented Items

The foreign exchange gain on long-term debt was the result of the strengthening Canadian dollar in 2010 and translating the 

US$110.0 million debt at the year-end exchange rate.

The foreign exchange loss on working capital of $4.0 million resulted from translating US dollar balances at period-end 

exchange rates.

The net gain of $1.5 million on derivative financial instruments recorded in 2010 relates to the settlement of maturing contracts 

during the year and the revaluation to market of outstanding contracts at the end of the year for natural gas swaps and US dollar 

forward contracts.  

The declining price of natural gas in 2010 resulted in a loss for the year of $3.7 million on settlement of contracts. The natural 

gas swaps are used to fix the price on a portion of the Partnership’s future natural gas requirements. The increasing value of the 

Canadian dollar in 2010 resulted in a gain of $4.2 million on the settlement of US dollar forward contracts, which were used to 

mitigate the impact of currency fluctuations on US dollar working capital. This gain was offset by the foreign exchange loss on 

working capital of $4.0 million.  

A net gain of $1.0 million was recorded in the year on outstanding derivative financial instruments relating to a revaluation to 

market of outstanding natural gas swaps and outstanding US dollar forward contracts at December 31, 2010.

SELECTED QUARTERLY PARTNERSHIP FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
	 	 		  Q4	Q 3	Q 2	Q 1	Q 4	Q 3	Q 2	Q 1 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s un l e s s o th e r w i s e n ote d ,  un a u d i te d)	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2009	 2009	 2009	 2009

Sales and income
Sales		 	 $	 266.1	 	 247.9		  247.6		  239.5		  220.2		  202.0		  205.0		  186.3
Operating income (loss)	 	 	 46.6	 	 52.0		  51.6		  32.5		  14.4		  12.4		  (5.0)		  (9.8)
EBITDA	 	 	 58.6	 	 63.6		  63.7		  44.1		  27.3		  25.1		  7.2		  2.2
Net income (loss)	 	 	 47.9	 	 54.5		  43.1		  32.5		  15.2		  18.3		  1.5		  (21.6)
Per Partnership unit (dollars)1

Net income (loss) basic and diluted	 	 $	 0.68	 $	 0.76	 $	 0.60	 $	 0.46	 $	 0.21	 $	 0.26	 $	 0.02	 $	 (0.30)
Statistics
Pulp shipments (000 mt)	 	 	 272.3	 	 246.0		  252.3		  268.4		  258.6		  259.5		  286.2		  240.3
Paper shipments (000 mt)	 	 	 39.0	 	 33.6		  34.4		  37.7		  38.1		  37.4		  34.3		  25.2

Average exchange rate (US$/Cdn$)2	 	 	 0.987	 	 0.962		  0.973		  0.961		  0.947		  0.912		  0.858		  0.803

Average NBSK pulp list price –  
	 (US$ per tonne, delivered to USA)			   967	 	 1,000		  993		  880		  820		  733		  645		  673
Per Partnership unit (dollars)1

Adjusted distributable cash per unit3	 	 $	 0.68	 $	 0.78	 $	 0.88	 $	 0.57	 $	 0.31	 $	 0.16	 $	 0.02	 $	 (0.06)
Distributions declared per unit	 	 $	 1.05	 $	 0.69	 $	 0.52	 $	 0.32	 $	 0.14	 $	 0.03	 $	 0.03	 $	 0.06

(1) 	B  a s e d o n P a r tn e r s h ip un i t s o u t s t a n d in g a t  D e ce m b e r 31,  2 010 (71, 2 7 0 , 0 2 5 )  f o r a l l  p e r i o d s .

( 2 ) 	 S o ur ce – B a n k o f  C a n a d a (a v e r a g e n o o n r a te f o r th e y e a r ) .

(3 ) 	F  o r f ur th e r d e t a i l s  o n th e P a r tn e r s h ip’s a d ju s te d d i s t r ib u t a b l e c a s h s e e th e d i s c l o s ur e o n p a g e 3 2 .
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Sales are primarily influenced by changes in market pulp prices, sales volumes and fluctuations in Canadian dollar exchange 

rates. Operating income (loss), net income (loss) and EBITDA are primarily impacted by: the level of sales; freight costs; fluctuations 

of fibre, chemical, and energy prices; level of spending and the timing of scheduled maintenance downtime; and production 

curtailments. Net income (loss) is also impacted by fluctuations in Canadian dollar exchange rates, the market price of natural 

gas, the revaluation to the year-end rate of US dollar denominated working capital balances and long-term debt, and revaluation of 

outstanding natural gas swaps and US dollar forward contracts.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The following table summarizes the Partnership’s financial position as at the end of and for the following years:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t f o r r a t i o s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 2010	 2009

Ratio of current assets to current liabilities	 	 1.96	 	 2.04
Ratio of net debt to partners’ equity1	 	 0.09	 	 0.19

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 $	 50.7	 $	 13.1
Comprised of cash flow from (used in):	 	 	 	
	 Operating activities	 $	 219.6	 $	 71.2
	F inancing activities	 	 (150.4)	 	 (40.9)
	 Investing activities	 	 (18.5)	 	 (17.2)

(1) 	N  et d e b t co n s i s t s o f  l o n g - te r m d e b t a n d o p e r at in g l o a n s ,  n e t  o f  c a s h a n d c a s h e q u i v a l e nt s .

Changes in Financial Position

For the year, operating activities generated cash of $219.6 million compared to $71.2 million in 2009. The increase was primarily 

due to higher cash generated from operations, partially offset by a reduction of cash generated from working capital. The higher 

cash generated from operations was primarily attributable to increases in the price for the Partnership’s pulp and paper products 

and higher sales volumes. The reduction in cash generated from working capital was primarily the result of a large decrease in the 

volume and price of pulp finished goods inventories in 2009 as compared to 2010, and a cash receipt during 2009 of the outstanding 

insurance claim relating to the Prince George Pulp and Paper Mill fire, which were partially offset by differences in the timing of 

trade receivable and accounts payable balances.

The cash used in financing activities of $150.4 million represents distributions paid to the limited partners, namely Canfor  

and the Fund.

The cash used in investing activities in the year was comprised primarily of $38.7 million relating to capital expenditures, 

partially offset by $20.2 million in payments received for reimbursable amounts under the Canadian Federal government’s  

Green Transformation Program.

FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS AND LIQUIDITY

Long-term Debt

At December 31, 2010 the Partnership had outstanding long-term debt of $109.4 million (2009 – $115.1 million, US$110.0 million for 

both 2010 and 2009) in the form of unsecured US dollar private placement notes (the Notes). The Notes bear interest at 6.41% and 

are repayable in full on their maturity date of November 30, 2013.
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Operating Loans

At the end of the year, the Partnership had cash and cash equivalents of $64.2 million, of which $39.2 million was used to pay 

declared distributions on January 14, 2011. The Partnership has a $40.0 million bank credit facility with a maturity date of  

November 30, 2011, of which $0.5 million was utilized at December 31, 2010 for a standby letter of credit issued for general business 

purposes. In addition, the Partnership has a separate facility with a maturity date of November 30, 2011, to cover the $13.2 million 

standby letter of credit issued to BC Hydro under the Energy Purchase Agreement. Interest and other costs of the bank credit facility 

are at prevailing market rates.

Cash Management

The Partnership manages cash resources to fund current and future operations through management of its capital structure in 

conjunction with cash flow forecasting, including anticipated investing and financing activities. The Partnership uses the bank credit 

facility to meet short-term working capital requirements. The Partnership also reviews on an ongoing basis, the level of distributions, 

capital expenditures and timing of scheduled major maintenance outages and may adjust these periodically to manage cash resources. 

The Partnership periodically discounts letters of credit on outstanding trade receivables to reduce borrowing costs, to reduce credit and 

foreign currency exposure, and to increase short-term liquidity.

Debt Covenants

The Notes and bank credit agreements each contain similar financial covenants including a maximum allowable debt:EBITDA 

leverage ratio and minimum required EBITDA:interest coverage ratio. The Partnership remained in compliance with all covenants 

at December 31, 2010 and throughout the year.

Pulp and Paper Green Transformation Program

On October 9, 2009 the Canadian Federal government announced the allocation of credits from the billion dollar Pulp and Paper 

Green Transformation Program (the Program). The Partnership has been allocated $122.2 million from the Program announced by 

the Canadian government on June 17, 2009. The Program is designed as a reimbursement of funds to be spent on qualifying energy 

and environmental capital projects. Credits may be used until the Program end date of March 31, 2012. The Partnership has received 

Program approval to proceed with three projects totaling $115.6 million. The Partnership expects to submit further projects over 

the balance of 2011. As of December 31, 2010 the Partnership has incurred $38.1 million and received reimbursements totaling 

$20.2 million with the balance of $17.9 million receivable on December 31, 2010. The Partnership submits claims for expenditures 

on approved projects under the Program on a monthly basis. These projects are expected to provide economic and environmental 

benefits to the Partnership’s operations.

Commitments

The Partnership is committed to the following operating leases for property, plant and equipment. At December 31, 2010, the future 

minimum lease payments under these operating leases were as follows:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	

2011	 	 	 	 $	 2.4
2012	 	 	 		  1.6
2013	 	 	 		  0.8
Thereafter	 	 	 	 1.1
Total minimum lease payments		  	 $	 5.9
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Other contractual obligations not included in the preceding table are:

•	 The Partnership has an Energy agreement with BC Hydro which provides for the sale of power production that exceeds an 

amended commitment of the original cogeneration project at the Prince George Pulp and Paper Mill. The obligation to produce 

power for the remainder of the term of the agreement, extending to August 2020, was reduced to 338 GWh per year from 390 

GWh effective September 15, 2009. Under the agreement, the Partnership is required to post a standby letter of credit as 

security in annually decreasing amounts as a minimum required amount of electricity is generated. As of December 31, 2010, 

the Partnership had no repayment obligation under the terms of the agreement and a standby letter of credit in the amount of 

$13.2 million was issued to BC Hydro as security for future power generation commitments.

•	 Obligations to pay pension and other post-employment benefits, for which a liability of $53.0 million was recorded at  

December 31, 2010 (2009 – $49.0 million). The Partnership has funded and unfunded defined benefit plans, as well as a defined 

contribution plan, that provide pension and other retirement and post-employment benefits to all salaried employees and to its 

hourly employees that are covered under collective agreements. The regular Salary Pension Plan (SPP) is a registered pension 

plan and as such, requires funding of future obligations.

•	 The Partnership’s asset retirement obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $40.6 million to remediate 

the landfills at the end of their useful lives. Payments relating to landfill closure costs are expected to occur at periods ranging 

from 32 to 40 years which have been discounted at 5.8% and 6.3%, respectively. The estimated fair value is $3.1 million  

(2009 – $3.0 million) and the amount is included in long-term liabilities.

•	 Significant contractual commitments relating to the construction of capital assets totaled $6.5 million at December 31, 2010  

(2009 – nil). These commitments related to projects funded under the Canadian Federal government’s Green Transformation Program.

Pension Obligations

As a result of a new funding valuation as of December 31, 2009, the Partnership increased its funding contributions to its defined 

benefit salary pension plans in 2010 by $4.0 million to $6.5 million (2009 – total contributions $2.5 million). The Partnership is 

currently committed to annual payments in relation to its main salary pension plan of $7.9 million for the next four years, or until 

such a time as a new funding valuation may lead to a reduction in the amount of payments required. Of this amount, approximately 

$2.6 million will relate to current service costs of active employees.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Partnership purchased wood chips and hog fuel from Canfor sawmills in the amount of $126.2 million in 2010 (2009 – $119.4 million). 

The Partnership also purchased wood chips from Lakeland Mills Ltd., in which Canfor owns a one-third interest. Purchases from 

this entity in 2010 were $6.1 million (2009 – $3.9 million). Purchased wood chips and hog fuel are included in manufacturing and 

product costs.

Effective July 1, 2006, the Partnership entered into a services agreement under which Canfor provides certain business and 

administrative services to the Partnership. Total value of the services provided in 2010 was $3.0 million (2009 – $3.0 million), 

included in manufacturing and product costs and selling and administration costs.  

Effective July 1, 2006, the Partnership entered into an incidental services agreement with Canfor, under which the Partnership 

provides certain business and administrative services to Canfor. Total value of the services provided in 2010 was $1.7 million  

(2009 – $1.7 million), included in manufacturing and product costs and selling and administration costs.

The Partnership markets bleached chemi-thermo mechanical pulp production from Canfor’s Taylor Pulp Mill (Taylor) for 

which it earned commissions totaling $1.7 million in 2010 (2009 – $1.9 million), included in sales. The Partnership also purchased 

chemi-thermo mechanical pulp from Taylor for resale totaling $1.5 million in 2010 (2009 – $1.7 million). The Partnership sold 

NBSK pulp to Taylor for packaging use totaling $3.0 million in 2010 (2009 – $2.3 million). In respect of the products marketed and 

services provided for Taylor, the Partnership held balances of $22.2 million in accounts receivable – trade (2009 – $24.4 million) and  

$23.6 million in accounts payable (2009 – $24.5 million) to Canfor at December 31, 2010.
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In October of 2010, Canfor sold its 50% ownership of Howe Sound Pulp and Paper Limited Partnership (HSLP). Until this time, 

the Partnership marketed the NBSK pulp produced by HSLP, for which it earned commissions totaling $1.8 million in 2010 (2009 – 

$2.4 million), included in sales. In respect of the products marketed and service provided for HSLP, the Partnership held balances of 

$1.0 million in accounts receivable – trade (2009 – $16.5 million) and $8.9 million in accounts payable (2009 – $17.6 million) to Canfor 

at December 31, 2010. As a result of the sale of HSLP by Canfor, the Partnership’s agreement to market HSLP pulp was terminated 

by the buyer and as compensation the Partnership received a contract termination fee of $1.3 million from HSLP, included in selling 

and administration costs.

Under the agreements for the marketing of production from Taylor, the Partnership assumes the customer credit risk.  

Accordingly, the Partnership records on its balance sheet the accounts receivable from the customer and the accounts payable to 

Canfor for sales made under those agreements.

At December 31, 2010, a total of $12.0 million (2009 – $16.3 million) was outstanding as accounts payable to Canfor in respect 

of purchases of wood chips, hog fuel, services and amounts paid on behalf of the Partnership. At December 31, 2010 a total of  

$0.4 million (2009 – $0.4 million) was payable to Lakeland Mills Ltd. for wood chips.

During 2010, the Partnership declared distributions totaling $183.9 million to its limited partners. Distributions to Canfor were 

$92.3 million, of which $72.6 million was paid, with the balance of $19.7 million recorded in accounts payable as at December 31, 2010. 

Distributions to the Fund were $91.6 million, of which $72.1 million was paid, with the balance of $19.5 million recorded in 

accounts payable as at December 31, 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Partnership declared distributions totaling  

$18.6 million to its limited partners. Distributions to Canfor were $9.4 million, of which $6.5 million was paid, with the balance of 

$2.9 million recorded in accounts payable as at December 31, 2009. Distributions to the Fund were $9.2 million, of which $6.4 million 

was paid, with the balance of $2.8 million recorded in accounts payable as at December 31, 2009. 

Related party transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is 

the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

FOURTH QUARTER 2010 RESULTS 

EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2010 was $58.6 million, $31.3 million higher when compared to the fourth quarter of 2009.  

The improved results when compared to the fourth quarter of 2009 were primarily attributable to higher realized prices for the 

Partnership’s pulp and paper products and higher shipment volumes, partially offset by higher unit manufacturing costs. Realized 

pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms increased by 15% as an 18% increase in NBSK pulp US dollar list prices and an increase in the 

proportion of sales into higher margin business, was partially offset by a 4% strengthening of the Canadian dollar. Realized paper 

prices in Canadian dollar terms increased by 24% when compared to the fourth quarter of 2009 due to strong paper demand and a 

higher proportion of prime grade sales in the fourth quarter of 2010. Higher unit manufacturing costs were the result of higher fibre 

costs, partially offset by the impact of higher production volumes. 

NBSK market pulp production during the fourth quarter was 9,500 tonnes higher than the fourth quarter of 2009. The increased 

production was a result of higher overall average daily production rates and an increase in operating days at the Northwood Pulp Mill 

due to a scheduled maintenance outage completed in the fourth quarter of 2009.  

The fourth quarter 2010 operating income of the pulp segment increased by $29.5 million when compared to the same period 

a year ago, due to higher NBSK pulp US dollar list prices and higher sales volumes, partially offset by a stronger Canadian dollar 

and higher unit manufacturing costs. Realized pulp prices in Canadian dollar terms increased by 15% as an 18% increase in NBSK 

pulp US dollar list prices and a higher proportion of sales into higher margin business, primarily in China, was partially offset by a 

4% strengthening of the Canadian dollar. Higher unit manufacturing costs were the result of higher fibre costs, partially offset by 

the impact of higher production volumes, and reduced natural gas consumption. Fibre costs increased 18% due to higher prices for 

sawmill residual chips, which are tied to the price of pulp, partially offset by reductions in the cost and volume of whole log chips. 

Energy sales under the terms of the Energy Purchase Agreement with BC Hydro totaled $1.9 million, unchanged from the fourth 

quarter of 2009.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Operating income of the paper segment for the fourth quarter of 2010 was $1.3 million higher than the same period last year. The 

improved results were due to a 24% increase in realized paper prices in Canadian dollar terms, partially offset by higher unit manufacturing 

costs. The increase in paper prices were due to improved demand and pressure to raise paper prices as margins of paper makers eroded with 

the substantial increase in global pulp prices through the latter half of 2009 to mid 2010. Increased unit manufacturing costs were primarily 

attributable to higher costs for slush pulp and the impact of lower production volumes, partially offset by lower spending on fixed costs. Sales 

volumes increased slightly in the fourth quarter of 2010 due to solid demand.

More detailed analysis of the fourth quarter 2010 results can be found in the Fourth Quarter 2010 press release dated February 8, 2011.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATED TO THE BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

Cyclicality of Product Prices

The Partnership’s financial performance is dependent upon the selling prices of its pulp and paper products, which have fluctuated 

significantly in the past. The markets for these products are highly cyclical and characterized by (i) periods of excess product supply 

due to industry capacity additions, increased production and other factors; and (ii) periods of insufficient demand due to weak general 

economic conditions. The economic climate of each region where the Partnership’s products are sold has a significant impact upon 

the demand, and therefore, the prices for pulp and paper.  In particular, the list prices of pulp have historically been unpredictable.

Currency Exchange Risk

The Partnership’s operating results are sensitive to fluctuations in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar to the US dollar, as prices 

for the Partnership’s products are denominated in US dollars or linked to prices quoted in US dollars. Therefore, an increase in the value 

of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar reduces the amount of revenue in Canadian dollar terms realized by the Partnership from 

sales made in US dollars, which in turn, reduces the Partnership’s operating margin and the cash flow available to fund distributions.

Dependence on Canfor

Approximately 56% of the fibre currently used by the Partnership is derived from the Fibre Supply Agreement with Canfor. The 

Partnership’s financial results could be materially adversely affected if Canfor is unable to provide the current volume of wood chips 

as a result of mill closures, whether temporary or permanent.

Raw Material Costs

The principal raw material utilized by the Partnership in its manufacturing operations is wood chips. The Partnership’s Fibre Supply 

Agreement with Canfor contains a pricing formula that currently results in the Partnership paying market price for wood chips and 

contains provisions to adjust the pricing formula to reflect market conditions. Prices for wood chips are not within the Partnership’s 

control and are driven by market demand, product availability, environmental restrictions, logging regulations, the imposition of 

fees or other restrictions on exports of lumber into the US and other matters. The Partnership is not always able to increase the 

selling prices of its products in response to increases in raw material costs.

 

Competitive Markets

The Partnership’s products are sold primarily in North America, Europe, and Asia. The markets for the Partnership’s products 

are highly competitive on a global basis, with a number of major companies competing in each market with no company holding 

a dominant position. Competitive factors include quality of product, reliability of supply and customer service. The Partnership’s 

competitive position is influenced by: the availability, quality, and cost of raw materials; energy and labour costs; free access to 

markets; currency exchange rates; plant deficiencies; and productivity in relation to its competitors.
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Dependence on Key Customers

In 2010, the Partnership’s top five customers accounted for approximately 36% of its pulp sales. The Partnership is therefore 

dependent on these customers. In the event that the Partnership cannot maintain these customer relationships or the demand from 

these customers is diminished for any reason in the future, there is a risk that the Partnership would be forced to find alternative 

markets in which to sell its pulp, which in turn, could result in lower prices or increased distribution costs thereby adversely 

affecting its sales margins and distributable cash.

Increased Production Capacity

The Partnership currently faces substantial competition in the pulp industry and may face increased competition in the years to 

come if new manufacturing facilities are built or if existing mills are improved. If increases in pulp production capacity exceed 

increases in pulp demand, selling prices for pulp could decline and adversely affect the Partnership’s business, financial condition, 

results of operations and cash flows, and the Partnership may not be able to compete with competitors who have greater financial 

resources and who are better able to weather a prolonged decline in prices.

Maintenance Obligations and Facility Disruptions

The Partnership’s manufacturing processes are vulnerable to operational problems that can impair the Partnership’s ability to 

manufacture its products. The Partnership could experience a breakdown in any of its machines, or other important equipment, 

and from time to time the Partnership schedules planned and unplanned outages to conduct maintenance that cannot be performed 

safely or efficiently during operations. Such disruptions could cause significant loss of production, which could have a material 

adverse effect on the Partnership’s business, financial condition and operating results.

Governmental Regulation

The Partnership is subject to a wide range of general and industry-specific environmental, health and safety and other laws and 

regulations imposed by federal, provincial and local authorities. If the Partnership is unable to extend or renew a material approval, 

license or permit required by such laws, or if there is a delay in renewing any material approval, license or permit, the Partnership’s 

business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected. In addition, future events 

such as any changes in these laws and regulations or any change in their interpretation or enforcement, or the discovery of currently 

unknown conditions, may give rise to unexpected expenditures or liabilities.

Capital Requirements

The pulp and paper industries are capital intensive, and the Partnership regularly incurs capital expenditures to expand its 

operations, maintain its equipment, increase its operating efficiency and comply with environmental laws. The Partnership’s total 

capital expenditures during 2010 were approximately $51.2 million of which approximately $38.1 million will be incurred under 

qualifying projects under the Canadian Federal government’s Green Transformation Program (the Program), and it expects to spend 

about $131.0 million on capital expenditures during 2011, of which approximately $84.1 million will be incurred under qualifying 

projects under the Program. The Partnership anticipates available cash resources and cash generated from operations will be 

sufficient to fund its operating needs and capital expenditures.

 

Work Stoppages

Any labour disruptions and any costs associated with labour disruptions at the Partnership’s mills could have a material adverse 

effect on the Partnership’s production levels and results of operations. The Partnership’s collective agreements with the CEP and 

PPWC have terms expiring on April 30, 2012. Any future inability to negotiate acceptable contracts could result in a strike or work 

stoppage by the affected workers and increased operating costs as a result of higher wages or benefits paid to unionized workers.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Native Land Claims

Much of the fibre used by the Partnership is sourced from areas where there are claims of Aboriginal rights and title. The courts 

have held that the Crown has an obligation to consult Aboriginal people, and accommodate their concerns, where there is a 

reasonable possibility that a Crown-authorized activity, such as a public forest tenure, may infringe asserted Aboriginal rights or 

title, even if those claims have not yet been proven. If the Crown has not consulted and accommodated Aboriginal people as required, 

the courts may quash a tenure or attach conditions to the exercise of harvesting rights under the tenure that may affect the quantity 

of fibre that can be harvested from such tenure.

Transportation Services

The Partnership relies on third parties for transportation of its products, as well as delivery of raw materials principally by railroad, 

trucks and ships. If any significant third party transportation providers were to fail to deliver the raw materials or products or 

distribute them in a timely manner, the Partnership may be unable to sell those products at full value, or at all, or be unable to 

manufacture its products in response to customer demand, which may have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and 

operating results. In addition, if any of these significant third parties were to cease operations or cease doing business with the 

Partnership, the Partnership may be unable to replace them at a reasonable cost. 

Senior Management

The Partnership’s success depends, in part, on the efforts of its senior management. The senior management team has significant 

industry experience and would be difficult to replace. Members of the senior management team possess sales, marketing, 

engineering, manufacturing, financial and administrative skills that are critical to the operation of the Partnership’s business. If the 

Partnership loses or suffers an extended interruption in the services provided by one or more of its senior officers, the Partnership 

may become unable to implement its business strategy, resulting in lower profitability. Moreover, the market for qualified individuals 

is highly competitive, and the Partnership may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel to replace or succeed members 

of senior management should the need arise. The Partnership does not maintain any key-man or similar insurance policies covering 

any of its senior management.

Environmental Laws, Regulations and Compliance 

The Partnership is subject to a wide range of general and industry-specific laws and regulations relating to the protection of the 

environment, including those governing air emissions, wastewater discharges, the storage, management and disposal of hazardous 

substances and wastes, the cleanup of contaminated sites, landfill operation and closure obligations, and health and safety matters.  

These laws and regulations require the Partnership to obtain authorizations from and comply with the authorization requirements 

of the appropriate governmental authorities, which have considerable discretion over the terms and timing of permits.

The Partnership has incurred, and expects to continue to incur, capital, operating and other expenditures complying with 

applicable environmental laws and regulations and as a result of environmental remediation on asset retirement obligations. The 

provision for these future environmental remediation expenditures was $3.1 million as of December 31, 2010 (see note 7 of the 

accompanying consolidated financial statements). It is possible that the Partnership could incur substantial costs, such as civil 

or criminal fines, sanctions and enforcement actions, cleanup and closure costs, and third-party claims for property damage 

and personal injury as a result of violations of, or liabilities under, environmental laws and regulations. The amount and timing of 

environmental expenditures is difficult to predict, and, in some cases, the Partnership’s liability may exceed forecasted amounts.  

The discovery of additional contamination or the imposition of additional cleanup obligations at the Partnership’s or third-party sites 

may result in significant additional costs. Any material expenditure incurred could adversely impact the Partnership’s financial 

condition or preclude the Partnership from making capital expenditures that would otherwise benefit the Partnership’s business.  

Enactment of new environmental laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations, or interpretation thereof, could 

have a significant impact on the Partnership.
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Pension Obligations

The Partnership in participation with Canfor has several defined benefit plans, which provide pension benefits to certain salaried 

employees. Benefits are based on a combination of years of service and final average salary. The cash payments required to fund 

the plan are determined by actuarial valuation completed at least once every three years, with the most recent actuarial valuation 

for the largest plan being completed as at December 31, 2009.

The funded surplus (deficit) of each defined benefit plan is calculated as the difference between the fair market value of  

plan assets and an actuarial estimate of future liabilities. Any deficit in the registered plans determined following an actuarial 

valuation must be funded in accordance with regulatory requirements, normally over 5 or 10 years. Some of the unregistered plans 

are also partially funded.

Through its pension funding requirements, the Partnership through Canfor, is exposed to the risk of fluctuating market values 

for the securities making up the plan assets, and to changes in prevailing interest rates which determine the discount rate used in 

calculating the estimated future liabilities.

For the main Salary Pension Plan, a one percentage point increase in the rate of return on plan assets over one year would 

reduce the funded deficit by an estimated $0.6 million. A one percentage point increase in the discount rate used in calculating the 

actuarial estimate of future liabilities would reduce the funded deficit by an estimated $7.4 million. These changes would only impact 

the Partnership’s funding requirements in years where a new actuarial funding valuation was performed and approval for a change 

in annual funding contributions was obtained from the regulator.

Sensitivities 

In addition, the sensitivity of the Partnership’s results to currency fluctuations and price changes for its principal products and input 

costs, when operating at full capacity, is estimated to be as follows: 

	 	 		  Impact on annual 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 	 Net income

Canadian dollar – US $0.01 change per Canadian dollar	 	 	 $	 6
NBSK pulp – US $10 change per tonne	 	 	 	 7
Natural gas cost – $1 change per gigajoule	 	 	 	 4
Chip cost – $2 change per tonne		  	 	 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recorded in the financial statements. On an ongoing basis, management 

reviews its estimates, including those related to asset useful lives for amortization, impairment of long-lived assets, pension and 

other employee future benefit plans, asset retirement obligations, and provisions for insurance claims, based upon currently available 

information. While it is reasonably possible that circumstances may arise which cause actual results to differ from these estimates, 

management does not believe it is likely that any such differences will materially affect the Partnership’s financial condition.

The Partnership reviewed the carrying values of the pulp and paper finished goods inventories as at December 31, 2010. The 

Partnership estimates the net realizable value of the finished goods inventories based on actual and forecasted sales orders. Based 

on these estimates there is no requirement to write-down the Partnership’s finished goods inventories, which are carried at cost at 

December 31, 2010.

On an ongoing basis, management reviews the asset retirement obligations in respect of useful lives and landfill closure costs.  

The obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $40.6 million. Payments relating to landfill closure costs are 

expected to occur at periods ranging from 32 to 40 years which have been discounted at 5.8% and 6.3% respectively.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Periodically, the Partnership considers the use of derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to risks associated with fluctuations 

in foreign exchange rates, pulp prices, and natural gas prices.  

For the year ended December 31, 2010 the Partnership recorded a net gain on derivative financial instruments of $1.5 million 

(2009 – net loss of $1.5 million) relating to the settlement of maturing contracts during the year and the revaluation to market of 

outstanding contracts at the end of the year, for natural gas swaps and US dollar forward contracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 the Partnership recorded losses of $3.7 million (2009 – $7.6 million) relating to 

the settlement of maturing natural gas swaps as a charge to non-operating income. At December 31, 2010 the Partnership had 

outstanding commodity swaps hedging future natural gas purchases of 0.6 million gigajoules extending to October 2011. At 

December 31, 2010 the unrealized loss of $2.5 million (2009 – $3.5 million) on these outstanding commodity swaps was recorded as 

a liability in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 the Partnership recorded a net gain of $4.2 million (2009 – $4.0 million) on settlement of 

maturing US dollar forward contracts as a credit to non-operating income. At December 31, 2010 the Partnership had outstanding 

US dollar forward contracts of $60.0 million extending to April 2011. At December 31, 2010 the unrealized gain of $1.1 million  

(2009 – 1.1 million) on these outstanding US dollar forward contracts was recorded as an asset in other accounts receivable.

OUTSTANDING UNITS

At February 8, 2011, there were 71,270,025 Limited Partnership Units outstanding, of which 35,493,542 units (consisting of 

14,254,005 Class A Limited Partnership Units and 21,239,537 Class B Limited Partnership Units) were owned by CPPI and 35,776,483 

Class B Exchangeable Limited Partnership Units were owned indirectly by Canfor.

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Partnership has established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information disclosed in this MD&A and the 

related financial statements was properly recorded, processed, summarized and reported to the Board and the Audit Committee.  

The Partnership’s chief executive officer (CEO) and chief financial officer (CFO) evaluated the effectiveness of these disclosure 

controls and procedures for the year ended December 31, 2010, and have concluded that they were operating effectively. 

The CEO and CFO acknowledge responsibility for the design of internal controls over financial reporting (ICFR), and confirmed 

that there were no changes in these controls that occurred during the most recent year ended December 31, 2010 which materially 

affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Partnership’s ICFR. Based upon their evaluation of these controls for the 

year ended December 31, 2010, the CEO and CFO have concluded that these controls were operating effectively.

CONVERSION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Project update

On February 13, 2008, the Accounting Standards Board announced that publicly accountable entities will be required to prepare 

financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for interim and annual financial 

statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Partnership converted to these new standards effective 

January 1, 2011.

The Partnership has completed the detailed diagnostic activities of its transition plan. Differences between IFRS and Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), in addition to those referenced below, may continue to be identified based on 

changes in IFRS prior to the release of the Partnership’s first full set of financial statements in compliance with IFRS for the year 

ending December 31, 2011. 



ma


n
a

g
eme




n
t

’s
 d

iscussio








n
 

a
n

d
 a

n
al


y

sis


29

The process of converting to IFRS has been divided into a number of different stages, several which have run concurrently.  

A number of accounting policy choices have been recommended by the Partnership’s Steering Committee but have not been 

finalized. At December 31, 2010, the full impact the IFRS transition would have on the Partnership’s financial statements could not 

be reasonably determined. The disclosures in this MD&A reflect the Partnership’s expectations based on information available at 

December 31, 2010. Changes in IFRS standards or circumstances relating to the Partnership may cause the Partnership to revise 

its expectations and its potential IFRS accounting policy choices.

The Partnership anticipates additional disclosure resulting from the adoption of IFRS and has identified and assessed these 

additional disclosure requirements. No significant systems changes have been identified, that will be necessary to compile the 

required disclosures.

The Partnership does not expect that the transition to IFRS will have a significant impact on its financial covenants contained 

in the existing Notes and bank credit facility agreements.

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 1)

At adoption of IFRS, an entity is required to apply IFRS 1, which provides guidance for an entity’s initial adoption of IFRS. IFRS 1 

generally requires an entity to apply all IFRS effective at the end of the first reporting period retrospectively. However, IFRS 1 

provides certain mandatory exceptions and permits limited optional exemptions in specified areas of certain standards from  

this general requirement. The Partnership expects to take the following optional elections provided by IFRS 1. All other  

available elections are either not applicable or not material to the Partnership. Elections are subject to change as new information 

becomes available.

•	 Borrowing costs: IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, requires the capitalization of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. Under Canadian GAAP, you have an accounting 

policy choice to expense these costs as incurred or capitalize them. The Partnership expects to elect to apply the requirements 

of IAS 23 prospectively from January 1, 2010.

•	 Employee Benefits: The Partnership expects to elect to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the date of 

transition to IFRS. Actuarial gains and losses would have to be recalculated under IFRS from the inception of each of our defined 

benefit plans if the exemption is not taken.  

•	 Business combinations: The Partnership expects to apply the business combinations exemption in IFRS 1. Accordingly, the 

Partnership will not modify the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on business combinations occurring before 

the transition date.

Accounting Policies

Below is a summary of expected changes to the Partnership’s accounting policies for those standards which are expected to 

materially impact the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements. The list and comments below should not be regarded as a 

final list of changes that will result from the transition to IFRS. It is intended to highlight the significant areas the Partnership 

has identified to date; however, some decisions are pending final approval where choices of accounting policies are available. Any 

changes to recognized financial figures may affect non-GAAP and performance measures including but not limited to, EBITDA and 

distributable cash.

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) 

Choices: Either a historical cost model or a revaluation model can be used to value property, plant and equipment. 

Policy Selection: The Partnership will value property, plant and equipment using the historical cost model.
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Major Maintenance 

Choices: There are no policy choices available under IFRS. 

Differences from existing Canadian G AAP: For major maintenance, IAS 16 requires for major inspections and overhauls to be 

accounted as a separate component of PP&E if the component is used for more than one reporting period. This treatment is only 

intended for major expenditures that occur at regular intervals over the life of the asset as costs of routine repairs and maintenance 

will continue to be expensed as incurred. The regularly scheduled major maintenance outages required on the Partnership’s plant 

and equipment would likely qualify for treatment under this standard with the expenditures being classified as property, plant  

and equipment.

Policy status: As at January 1, 2010 under Canadian GAAP, expenditures during the Partnership’s major maintenance outages 

are classified as prepaid expense and other assets ($15.3 million), and other long-term assets ($5.4 million), as appropriate and 

amortized over the period between scheduled major maintenance outages. 

The impact on the Partnership’s opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 as a result of this treatment will be a decrease in 

the Partnership’s prepaid expense and other assets, and other long-term assets, with a corresponding increase in PP&E. In addition 

the Partnership’s amortization will increase with a corresponding decrease in manufacturing and product costs, with no net impact 

to net income or operating income.

 

Employee Benefits

Choices: Actuarial gains and losses are permitted under IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”, to be recognized directly in other 

comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss.

Policy Selection: Actuarial gains and losses will be recognized in other comprehensive income.

Differences from existing Canadian GAAP: IAS 19 requires the past service cost element of defined benefit plans to be expensed 

on an accelerated basis, with vested past service costs expensed immediately and unvested past service costs recognized on 

a straight-line basis until the benefits become vested. Under Canadian GAAP, past service costs are generally amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service period of active employees under the plan.

Under Canadian GAAP, certain gains and losses which were unrecognized at the time of adopting the current Canadian 

accounting standard were permitted to be amortized over a period under transitional provisions of the current standard. Under 

IFRS, those amounts will not be permitted to remain unrecognized and must be recognized on transition to IFRS.

Policy status: The Partnership’s actuarial valuation is currently being finalized under IFRS including potential IFRIC 14 adjustments 

and related accounting policy choices.

Impairment of Assets

Choices: There are no policy choices available under IFRS.

Differences from existing Canadian G AAP: Canadian GAAP generally uses a two-step approach to impairment testing: first 

comparing asset carrying values with undiscounted future cash flows to determine whether impairment exists; and then measuring 

any impairment by comparing asset carrying values with fair values. IAS 36, “Impairment of Assets”, uses a one-step approach 

for both testing for and measurement of impairment, with asset carrying values compared directly with the higher of fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use (discounted cash flows). This may potentially result in more write downs where carrying values 

of assets were previously supported under Canadian GAAP on an undiscounted cash flow basis, but could not be supported on a 

discounted cash flow basis.

In addition, the extent of any new write-downs may be partially offset by the requirement under IAS 36 to reverse any previous 

impairments where circumstances have changed such that the impairments have been reduced. Canadian GAAP prohibits reversal 

of impairment losses.

Policy status: Based on the Partnership’s analysis no impairment charges under IFRS are necessary as at January 1, 2010.
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Provisions (Including Asset Retirement Obligations)

Choices: There are no policy choices available under IFRS.

Differences from existing Canadian GAAP: IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, requires a provision 

to be recognized when there is a present obligation as a result of a past transaction or event; it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation, where “probable” in this 

context, means more likely than not. The criteria for recognition in the financial statements under Canadian GAAP, is “likely”, which 

is a higher threshold than “probable”. Therefore, it is possible that there may be some contingent liabilities which would meet the 

recognition criteria under IFRS that were not recognized under Canadian GAAP. Other differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP 

exist in relation to the measurement of provisions, such as the methodology for determining the best estimate where there is a range 

of equally possible outcomes (IFRS uses the mid-point of the range, whereas Canadian GAAP uses the low-end of the range), and 

the requirement under IFRS for provisions to be discounted where material.

Policy status: The Partnership does not expect this change in accounting policy to have a significant impact as at January 1, 2010.

Borrowing Costs

Choices: There are no policy choices available under IFRS.

Differences from existing Canadian GAAP: Under Canadian GAAP, an entity can choose whether to expense or capitalize borrowing 

costs, whereas IFRS requires qualifying borrowing costs to be capitalized.

Statement of Cash Flows

Choices: Either the direct or the indirect method may be presented. Distributions and interest paid and interest received can be 

presented as operating, financing or investing activities respectively.

Policy selection: The Partnership expects to use the indirect method. Distributions and interest paid would be presented as 

financing activities and interest received would be presented as an investing activity.

Differences from existing Canadian GAAP: None.

Post-Implementation 

The post-implementation work will involve continuous monitoring of changes in IFRS throughout the implementation process 

(through to the end of 2011). We note that the standard-setting bodies that determine Canadian GAAP and IFRS have significant 

ongoing projects that could impact the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS and their impact on our financial statements. 

In particular, we expect that there may be additional new or revised IFRS in relation to consolidation, joint ventures, financial 

instruments, hedge accounting, discontinued operations, leases and employee benefits. We have processes in place to ensure that 

potential changes are monitored and evaluated. The impact of any new IFRS will be evaluated as they are drafted and published.

Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 

Due to the fact that IFRS requires more judgment with respect to various accounting treatments additional or modified processes 

and controls have been put in place. These changes to financial reporting controls will ensure that the Partnership is making the 

appropriate judgments and adhering to the IFRS accounting policies selected.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

CANFOR PULP LIMITED PARTNERSHIP SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	 	 	 Year ended	Y ear ended

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO EBITDA
Net income	 $	 178.0	 $	 13.4
Add (deduct):
	 Amortization	 	 47.4	 	 49.4
	N et interest expense	 	 7.8	 	 10.1
	F oreign exchange gain on long-term debt	 	 (5.7)	 	 (19.6)
	 Loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments	 	 (1.5)	 	 1.5
	F oreign exchange loss on working capital	 	 4.0	 	 6.7
	 Other expense	 	 –	 	 0.3
EBITDA	 $	 230.0	 $	 61.8

EBITDA per Partnership unit	 $	 3.23	 $	 0.87

	 	 	 Year ended	Y ear ended

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

CALCULATION OF STANDARDIZED AND ADJUSTED DISTRIBUTABLE CASH
Cash flow from operating activities	 $	 219.6	 $	 71.2
Deduct: Capital expenditures – cash1	 	 (12.0)	 	 (17.3)
Standardized distributable cash	 $	 207.6	 $	 53.9

Adjustments to standardized distributable cash:
Add (deduct):
	 Increase (decrease) in non-cash working capital	 $	 2.4	 $	 (31.8)
	N et long-term deferred maintenance	 	 (2.3)	 	 4.6
	 Capital expenditure accruals – net	 	 (0.6)		  3.8
Adjusted distributable cash	 $	 207.1	 $	 30.5

Standardized distributable cash – per Partnership unit (in dollars)	 $	 2.91	 $	 0.76
Adjusted distributable cash – per Partnership unit (in dollars)	 $	 2.91	 $	 0.43

Cash distributions declared (paid and payable)	 $	 183.9	 $	 18.6
Cash distributions declared – per Partnership unit (in dollars)	 $	 2.58	 $	 0.26

(1) 	 P r e s e nte d n et  o f  C a n a d ia n F e d e r a l  g o v e r n m e nt G r e e n Tr a n s f o r m at i o n P r o gr a m e x p e n d i t ur e s .

DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AND CASH DISTRIBUTIONS

The Partnership reports standardized distributable cash in accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants  

July 2007 interpretive release “Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and other Flow-Through Entities”. In summary, for 

the purposes of the Partnership, standardized distributable cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities, including 

the effects of changes in non-cash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAAP financial statements. 

Adjusted distributable cash is defined as the standardized distributable cash prior to the effects of changes in non-cash working 

capital and long-term deferred maintenance, asset retirement obligation expenditures and accruals, and after provision for accrued 

capital expenditures.

The Board determines the level of cash distributions based on the level of cash flow from operations before changes in non-

cash working capital and long-term deferred maintenance, asset retirement obligation expenditures and accruals, less capital 

expenditures. In addition, management estimates of short-term liquidity requirements may influence the level of distributions.  

During the year distributions are based on estimates of full year cash flow and capital spending; thus distributions may be adjusted 

as these estimates change. It is expected that normal seasonal fluctuations in working capital will be funded from cash resources or 

the revolving short-term credit facility.
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canfor pulp income fund consolidated
financial statements



Consolidated Financial Statements

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

The information and representations in the financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) are the responsibility of 

Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors of Canfor Pulp Holding Inc. (CPHI), the general partner of Canfor Pulp Limited 

Partnership and by the Board of Directors of Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI). Management prepared the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada and, where necessary, they reflect Management’s best estimates and 

judgments at this time.  It is reasonably possible that circumstances arise which cause actual results to differ. Management does not believe it 

is likely that any differences will be material. The financial information presented throughout this report is consistent with that contained in the 

consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for designing and maintaining adequate systems of internal controls over financial reporting, including 

policies and procedures to provide reasonable assurances as to the reliability of the financial records and the safeguarding of the assets, for 

the Fund, CPPI and the Partnership. The Partnership’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer have evaluated the effectiveness of 

these disclosure controls and procedures for the year ended December 31, 2010, and have concluded that they are operating effectively.

Canadian Forest Products Ltd. (Canfor)’s Internal Audit Department performs independent reviews of the accounting records and  

related procedures. The Internal Audit Department reports its findings and recommendations both to Management and the Audit Committees.

The Board of Directors of CPHI and CPPI are responsible for ensuring that Management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 

reporting and are ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  

The Boards of CPHI and CPPI carry out these activities primarily through the Audit Committees of CPHI and CPPI.

The respective Audit Committees are comprised of independent Directors who are not employees of the Partnership. The Committees 

meet periodically throughout the year with Management, external auditors and internal auditors to review their respective responsibilities, 

results of the reviews of internal accounting controls, policies and procedures, and financial reporting matters. The external auditors meet 

separately with the Audit Committees.

The consolidated financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis have been reviewed by the Audit Committees, 

which recommended their approval by the Board of Directors of CPHI and CPPI. The consolidated financial statements have been audited 

by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the external auditors, whose reports follow.

Joe Nemeth				T    erry D. Hodgins
President and Chief Executive Officer		C  hief Financial Officer and Secretary
Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.			C   anfor Pulp Holding Inc.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of Canfor Pulp Products Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Canfor Pulp Income Fund (the “Fund”) and its subsidiaries, 

which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statements of income, 

comprehensive income, accumulated earnings and distributions, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes 

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 

audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  

audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund and its 

subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then 

ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
February 8, 2011
Vancouver, BC
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	 		  Year ended	Y ear ended
(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t un i t  a n d p e r un i t  a m o unt s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Income
Equity income in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership	 $	 88,643	 $	 6,644

Net income before future income tax recovery	 	 88,643	 	 6,644
Future income tax recovery (n ote 6 )	 	 (1,848)	 	 (2,422)
Net income	 	 90,491	 	 9,066
Distributions declared (n ote 4 )	 	 (91,573)	 	 (9,229)
Distributions in excess of earnings	 $	 (1,082)	 $	 (163)

Weighted average number of Fund units	 	 35,493,307	 	 35,493,307
Net income per Fund unit, basic and diluted	 $	 2.55	 $	 0.26

Net income for the year	 $	 90,491	 $	 9,066
	E quity interest in other comprehensive income (loss) of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership	 	 26	 	 (45)
Comprehensive income	 $	 90,517	 $	 9,021

Accumulated earnings and distributions
Balance, beginning of year – distributions in excess of earnings	 $	 (73,026)	 $	 (72,863)
Distributions in excess of earnings – current year	 	 (1,082)	 	 (163)
Balance, end of year – accumulated distributions in excess of earnings	 $	 (74,108)	 $	 (73,026)

The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these consolidated financial statements.

Canfor Pulp Income Fund – Consolidated Statements of Income, 
Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Earnings and Distributions
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	 		  Year ended	Y ear ended
(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Cash generated from (used in)

Operating activities
Net income	 $	 90,491	 $	 9,066
	I tems not affecting cash:	 		  	
		E  quity income in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership	 	 (88,643)	 	 (6,644)
		F  uture income tax recovery	 	 (1,848)	 	 (2,422)
Distributions received from Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership		  74,891		  7,809
			   	 74,891	 	 7,809

Financing activities
Distributions paid to unitholders 	 $	 (74,891)	 $	 (7,809)

Beginning, change and ending balance in cash and cash equivalents	 $	 –	 $	 –

The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these consolidated financial statements.

Canfor Pulp Income Fund
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Canfor Pulp Income Fund
Consolidated Balance Sheets

	 		  As at	A s at
(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s)  	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

ASSETS
Current assets
	D istributions receivable from Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (n ote s 4 ,  5 )	 $	 19,521	 $	 2,839

Total current assets	 	 19,521	 	 2,839

Equity investment in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (n o te 3 )	 	 260,740	 	 263,644

			   $	 280,261	 $	 266,483

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
	D istributions payable (n ote 4 )	 $	 19,521	 $	 2,839

Total current liabilities	 	 19,521	 	 2,839

Future income taxes (n o te 6 )	 	 35,439	 	 37,287
			   	 54,960	 	 40,126
UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY	 		  	
Unitholders’ equity – 35,493,307 Fund units outstanding	 	 299,351	 	 299,351
Accumulated earnings and distributions	 	 (74,108)	 	 (73,026)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (n ote 7 )	 	 58	 	 32
Total Unitholders’ Equity	 	 225,301	 	 226,357
			   $	 280,261	 $	 266,483

Description of the Fund and basis of presentation of financial statements (note 1).
Subsequent event (note 11).
The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Trustees

Stan Bracken-Horrocks			   Charles Jago
Trustee					T     rustee
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1. Description of the Fund and Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements

Canfor Pulp Income Fund (the Fund) is an unincorporated open-ended trust established under the laws of Ontario on April 21, 2006, 

pursuant to the Fund Declaration. The principal head office of the Fund is located at 1700 West 75th Avenue, Vancouver, B.C., Canada.  

The Fund has been established to acquire and hold, through a wholly owned trust, the Canfor Pulp Trust (the Trust), investments in 

the Limited Partnership Units of the Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (the Partnership), and such other investments as the Trustees 

of the Fund may determine. The general partner of the Partnership is Canfor Pulp Holding Inc. (the General Partner) and each 

partner holds an ownership interest in the General Partner equal to its Partnership interest. 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund and the Trust. 

Each unitholder participates pro-rata in any distributions from the Fund. 

The Fund is entirely dependent on distributions from the Partnership to make its own distributions.

On January 1, 2011 the Fund was converted to a corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. (CPPI). See subsequent event note 11.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund and the Trust, its wholly-owned holding trust. All significant 

inter-company transactions have been eliminated.

Investment in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership

The Fund accounts for its investment in the Partnership using the equity method. Under the equity method the Fund records its pro-rata 

share of the Partnership’s income as an increase in investment. Any distributions declared by the Partnership and accruing to the Fund 

reduce the carrying value of the Fund’s investment in the Partnership.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. It 

is reasonably possible that circumstances may arise that cause actual results to differ from management estimates; however, 

management does not believe it is likely that such differences will materially affect the Fund’s financial position. Significant areas 

requiring the use of management estimates are the valuation of the Fund’s investment in the Partnership relative to its market value 

and the determination of future income tax.

Net Income per Fund Unit

Basic net income per Fund unit is based on the weighted average number of Fund units outstanding during the year. At December 31, 2010  

and December 31, 2009 the Partnership had 35,776,483 Class B Exchangeable Limited Partnership Units outstanding which can be 

exchanged for Fund Units at the option of the holder Canadian Forest Products Ltd. (Canfor). Any issuance of new Fund units as a 

result of such an exchange would be accompanied by a corresponding increase in the Fund’s investment in the Partnership through 

the acquisition of Class B Exchangeable Limited Partnership Units. As a result, this potential conversion would not result in any 

dilution of the Fund’s net income per unit.

Income Taxes

The Fund is a unit trust for income tax purposes. As such, the Fund only has current taxes on any taxable income not allocated to 

the unitholders. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, all taxable income of the Fund was allocated to the 

unitholders. Income tax obligations relating to distributions from the Fund are the obligations of the unitholders.

Canfor Pulp Income Fund – Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as at December 31, 2010
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Future Income Taxes

Future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the tax basis of the Fund’s and Partnership’s 

assets and liabilities and the respective amounts reported in the financial statements. Future tax assets or liabilities are calculated 

using the substantively enacted tax rates for the periods in which the differences are expected to be settled. Future tax assets are 

recognized to the extent that they are considered more likely than not to be realized.

3. Equity Investment in Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership

The Fund’s equity investment in the Partnership is as follows:

	 		  Year ended	Y ear ended

(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Balance, beginning of year 	 $	 263,644	 $	 266,274  
Equity income of the Partnership	 	 88,643	 	 6,644 
Equity interest in other comprehensive income (loss) of the Partnership	 	 26	 	 (45)
Distributions from the Partnership	 	 (91,573)	 	 (9,229)
Balance, end of year 	 $	 260,740	 $	 263,644 

4. Distributions

The Fund declared distributions during the twelve months of 2010 as follows:

(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t p e r un i t  a m o unt s) 	 	

				A    mount per 
Record Date	 Payable Date	F und Unit $	A mount $

January 29, 2010	F ebruary 15, 2010	 0.08	 2,840
February 26, 2010	 March 15, 2010	 0.12	 4,259
March 31, 2010	A pril 15, 2010	 0.12	 4,259
April 30, 2010	 May 14, 2010	 0.12	 4,259
May 31, 2010	 June 15, 2010	 0.20	 7,099
June 30, 2010	 July 15, 2010	 0.20	 7,099
July 30, 2010	A ugust 13, 2010	 0.22	 7,809
August 31, 2010	S eptember 15, 2010	 0.22	 7,809
September 30, 2010	O ctober 15, 2010	 0.25	 8,873
October 29, 2010	N ovember 15, 2010	 0.25	 8,873
November 30, 2010	D ecember 15, 2010	 0.25	 8,873
December 31, 2010	 January 14, 2011	 0.55	 19,521
				    2.58	 91,573

The Fund’s monthly distributions are based on the Partnership’s monthly distributions.

Monthly cash distributions from the Partnership are based on the Partnership’s cash flow and are not directly equal to the 

Fund’s pro-rata share of the Partnership’s income under the equity method.

5. Related Party Transactions 

All accounting, treasury, legal and administrative functions for the Fund are performed on its behalf, without charge, by the 

Partnership pursuant to a support agreement. Distributions earned from the Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2010 were 

$91.6 million of which $72.1 million was received, with the balance of $19.5 million receivable on December 31, 2010. For the year 

ended December 31, 2009 distributions earned were $9.2 million of which $6.4 million was received, with the balance of $2.8 million 

receivable on December 31, 2009.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

6. Future Income Taxes

The following table reconciles the income tax expense calculated using statutory tax rates to the actual income tax expense recovery.

			   	Y ear ended	 	Y ear ended
(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s)  	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Expected income tax expense at statutory tax rate of nil (2009 – nil)	 $	 –	 $	 –
Future income tax recovery on temporary differences	 	 (1,848)	 	 (2,422)
			   $	 (1,848)	 $	 (2,422)

The temporary differences based on the Fund’s 49.8% ownership of the Partnership are as follows:

(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Future income tax liability:
Equity investment in the Partnership	 $	 35,439	 $	 42,347
Expected reversal of temporary differences prior to 2011	 	 –	 	 (5,060)
			   $	 35,439 	 $	 37,287

Based on a current estimate of the income tax liability at the beginning of 2011, the Fund has recorded a future income tax liability 

and corresponding cumulative non-cash future tax charge to net income. This non-cash charge relates to the Fund’s 49.8% 

ownership in the Partnership and is based on temporary differences between the accounting and tax basis of the Partnership’s 

assets and liabilities expected to reverse after January 1, 2011. 

7. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

			   	Y ear ended	 	Y ear ended
(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Balance, beginning of year 	 $	 32	 $	 77
Other comprehensive income (loss)	 	 26	 	 (45)
Balance, end of year	 $	 58	 $	 32

8. Capital Disclosures

The Fund’s capital is comprised of unitholders’ equity and accumulated earnings and distributions. The Fund’s only source of liquidity is 

distributions received from the Partnership. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to make its own distributions to unitholders 

based on the distributions received from the Partnership.

(th o u s a n d s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Unitholders’ equity1	 $	 225,243	 $	 226,325

(1) 	  E xc l u d e s a cc um ul ate d o th e r co m p r e h e n s i v e in co m e.

The Fund has no external capital requirements or covenants.
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9. Financial Instruments

The Fund’s financial instruments consist of distributions receivable from the Partnership and distributions payable to unitholders.  

Distributions receivable are classified as loans and receivables, and are measured at amortized cost. Distributions payable are 

classified as other liabilities and are measured at amortized cost. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate 

their fair values due to the relatively short period to maturity of these instruments.

Financial instruments recognized at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheet must be classified in one of the following 

three fair value hierarchy levels:

•	L evel 1 – measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	L evel 2 – measurement based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability;

•	L evel 3 – measurement based on inputs that are not observable (supported by little or no market activity) for the asset or liability.

The Fund is not required to disclose fair value hierarchy levels for distributions receivable from the Partnership and 

distributions payable to unitholders, as the fair values of these financial instruments approximate the carrying value due to their 

short–term nature. 

The Fund is exposed to certain risks related to the nature of its investment in the Partnership and the structure of the Fund, as 

well as the underlying risks related to the business of the Partnership. The Fund relies on the objectives, policies and processes of 

the Partnership for managing these risks.

10. Segmented Information

The Fund operates in one industry segment, namely investing in pulp and paper producing assets in one geographic region, Canada.

11. Subsequent Event

The conversion of the Fund into a dividend paying public taxable Canadian corporation named Canfor Pulp Products Inc. has been 

completed effective January 1, 2011 under the previously announced plan of arrangement approved by unitholders in April 2010. 

Under the arrangement, unitholders of the Fund received, for each unit of the Fund held, one common share of CPPI. The conversion  

was completed on a tax-free rollover basis in accordance with the legislation enacted on March 12, 2009 by the Canadian government 

(SIFT Conversion Rules). The reorganization was completed with the winding up of the Fund and Trust.



44

C
a

n
f

o
r

 P
u

l
p

 p
r

o
d

u
c

t
s

 INC



. 

a
n

n
u

a
l

 r
e

p
o

r
t

 2
01

0

Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership  
Consolidated Financial Statements



c
o

n
s

o
l

id
a

t
e

d
 f

in
a

n
c

ia
l

s
t

a
t

e
m

e
n

t
s

45

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Partners of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (the “Partnership”) and its 

subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated statements 

of income, comprehensive income and Partners’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes including a 

summary of significant accounting policies. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 

audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  

audit opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership 

and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years 

then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Chartered Accountants
February 8, 2011 
Vancouver, BC
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			   	Y ear ended 	 	Y ear ended
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t un i t s a n d p e r un i t  a m o unt s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Revenue
	S ales	 $	 1,001.1	 $	 813.5
	 Business interruption insurance	 	 –	 	 3.2
			   	 1,001.1	 	 816.7

Costs and expenses
	 Manufacturing and product costs	 $	 622.0	 $	 611.2
	F reight and other distribution costs 	 	 122.7	 	 121.1
	A mortization	 	 47.4	 	 49.4
	S elling and administration costs		  26.3		  23.0
			   	 818.4	 	 804.7

Operating income	 $	 182.7	 $	 12.0
	I nterest expense, net	 	 (7.8)	 	 (10.1)
	F oreign exchange gain on long-term debt	 	 5.7	 	 19.6
	G ain (loss) on derivative financial instruments (n ote 13) 	 	 1.5	 	 (1.5)
	F oreign exchange loss on working capital	 	 (4.0)	 	 (6.7)
	O ther income (expense)	 	 (0.1)	 	 0.1
			   	 (4.7)	 	 1.4

Net income	 $	 178.0	 $	 13.4
Other comprehensive income (n ote 16)		  0.1	 	 (0.1)
Comprehensive income	 $	 178.1	 $	 13.3

Net income per Partnership unit (n o te 12 )

Basic and diluted	 $	 2.50	 $	 0.19

Weighted average Partnership units outstanding	 	 71,270,025	 	 71,270,025

Partners’ Equity
Balance, beginning of year	 $	 529.1	 $	 534.4
Net income		  178.0		  13.4
Distributions declared to partners (n ote 15 )		  (183.9)		  (18.6)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (n ote 16)	 	 0.1	 	 (0.1)
Balance, end of year	 $	 523.3	 $	 529.1

The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these consolidated financial statements.

Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership – Consolidated Statements  
of Income, Comprehensive Income and Partners’ Equity
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Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

		  	 	Y ear ended	 	Y ear ended
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Cash and cash equivalents generated from (used in)

Operating activities
Net income	 $	 178.0	 $	 13.4
	I tems not affecting cash:
		A  mortization	 	 47.4	 	 49.4
		F  oreign exchange gain on long-term debt	 	 (5.7)	 	 (19.6)
		I  ncrease in value of outstanding derivative instruments	 	 (1.0)	 	 (2.1)
		E  mployee future benefits, net of cash payments	 	 7.7	 	 5.2
		C  hange in deferred maintenance provision	 	 8.4	 	 5.9
		O  ther	 	 (0.2)	 	 0.4
Salary pension plan contribution	 	 (6.5)	 	 (2.5)
Long-term deferred maintenance expenditure	 	 (6.1)	 	 (10.5)
Other deferred expenditure	 	 –	 	 (0.2)
	C ash flow from operations before working capital changes	 	 222.0	 	 39.4
	D ecrease (increase) in non-cash working capital (n ote 14 )	 	 (2.4)	 	 31.8
			   	 219.6	 	 71.2
Financing activities
	D istributions paid to partners	 $	 (150.4)	 $	 (15.7)
	O perating loan repayment (n ote 8 )	 	 –	 	 (25.2)
			   	 (150.4)	 	 (40.9)
Investing activities
	 Property, plant and equipment, net (n ote 14 )	 $	 (38.7)	 $	 (17.3)
	G reen Transformation program reimbursements	 	 20.2	 	 –
	I nsurance proceeds		  –		  0.1
			   	 (18.5)	 	 (17.2)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 	 $	 50.7	 $	 13.1
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	 	 13.5	 	 0.4
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	 $	 64.2	 $	 13.5

Supplementar y cash flow information (note 14).
The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these consolidated financial statements.
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Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership
Consolidated Balance Sheets

			   	A s at	 	A s at
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

ASSETS

Current assets
	C ash and cash equivalents 	 $	 64.2	 $	 13.5
	A ccounts receivable (n ote s 11,  18 )	 		  	
		T  rade	 	 108.0	 	 110.5
		G  reen Transformation Program	 	 17.9	 	 –
		O  ther	 	 14.8	 	 8.6
	I nventories (n ote 3 )	 	 123.4	 	 135.4
	 Prepaid expenses and other assets	 	 21.8	 	 18.4

Total current assets	 	 350.1	 	 286.4

Property, plant and equipment (n o te 4 a n d 18 )		  499.6		  534.1
Other long-term assets (n o te 5 )		  17.6		  17.1

			   $	 867.3	 $	 837.6

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
	A ccounts payable and accrued liabilities (n ote 11)	 	 139.3	 	 134.5
	D istributions payable (n ote 15 )	 	 39.2	 	 5.7

Total current liabilities	 	 178.5	 	 140.2

Long-term debt (n o te 8 )	 	 109.4	 	 115.1
Long-term liabilities (n o te 9 )	 	 56.1	 	 53.2
			   $	 344.0	 $	 308.5

PARTNERS’ EQUITY – 14,254,005 Class A Limited Partnership Units  
	 and 57,016,020 Class B Limited Partnership Units (n ote 1)	 	 523.3	 	 529.1
			   $	 867.3	 $	 837.6

Commitments and contingencies (note 17).
The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership by its General Partner, Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.

Stan Bracken-Horrocks			   Joe Nemeth
Director					D     irector
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Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership – Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as at December 31, 2010 and 2009

1. Business Description and Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements

Canfor Pulp Limited Partnership (the Partnership) is a limited partnership formed on April 21, 2006, under the laws of Manitoba, 

to acquire and carry on the NBSK pulp and paper business of Canadian Forest Products Ltd. a subsidiary of Canfor Corporation 

(collectively Canfor). The business consists of two NBSK pulp mills and one NBSK pulp and paper mill located in Prince George, 

British Columbia and a marketing group based in Vancouver, British Columbia (the Pulp Business).

At December 31, 2010, Canfor owned 50.2% and Canfor Pulp Income Fund (the Fund) indirectly owned 49.8% of the issued and 

outstanding units of the Partnership.

The general partner of the Partnership is Canfor Pulp Holding Inc. (the General Partner), which holds an interest of 0.001% of 

the Partnership.

These audited consolidated financial statements are those of the Partnership and do not include the assets, liabilities, 

revenues and expenses of its partners. The Partnership, other than its incorporated subsidiaries, is not subject to income taxes 

as its income is allocated for tax purposes to its partners. Accordingly, no recognition has been made for income taxes related to 

Partnership income in these financial statements. The tax attributes of the Partnership’s net assets flow directly to the partners.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.

Economic Dependence

The Partnership depends on Canfor to provide approximately 56% (2009 – 63%) of its fibre supply as well as to provide certain 

key business and administrative services as described in note 11. As a result of these relationships the Partnership considers its 

operations to be dependent on its ongoing relationship with Canfor.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

These audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership, its wholly owned subsidiaries and its 

50% interest in Premium One Papers (a general partnership). The 50% interest in the general partnership is accounted for using 

proportionate consolidation. All significant inter-company transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. It 

is reasonably possible that circumstances may arise that cause actual results to differ from management estimates, however, 

management does not believe it is likely that such differences will materially affect the Partnership’s financial position.

Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates are inventory valuations, amortization rates, employee benefit 

plan assumptions, asset retirement obligations, impairment of long-lived assets, provisions for insurance claims and environmental 

remediation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of 90 days or less.

Valuation of Inventories

Inventories of pulp and paper products, wood chips, and processing materials and supplies are valued at the lower of average cost 

and net realizable value.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

The Partnership capitalizes the costs of major replacements, extensions, and improvements to plant and equipment.

Assets are amortized over the following estimated productive lives:  

Buildings				    10 to 50 years

Pulp and paper machinery and equipment	 20 years

Amortization of manufacturing assets is calculated on a straight-line basis. Assets under construction are not amortized.

Government Assistance

Government assistance relating to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is recorded as a reduction of the cost of the 

related asset with any amortization calculated on the net amount. Government assistance related to current expenses is recorded 

as a reduction of the related expenses.

Employee Future Benefits

The Partnership provides certain pension, health care benefits and pension bridge plans to eligible retired employees.  

The Partnership accrues the costs and related obligations of the defined benefit salary pension plans, the pension bridge 

plan and other retirement benefit plans using the projected benefit actuarial method prorated on service and management’s best 

estimates of salary escalation and other relevant factors. Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes in actuarial assumptions 

used to determine the accrued benefit obligation. The excess of the net accumulated actuarial gain or loss over 10% of the greater 

of the benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets is amortized over the average remaining service period of the active 

employees, which is 10 years for the salary pension plan, 11 years for the pension bridge plan and 11 years for the other benefit 

plans. Pension plan assets are valued at fair value for purposes of calculating the expected return on plan assets. Past service costs 

arising from plan amendments are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of 

employees active at the date of the amendment. On January 1, 2000, the Pulp Business (Canfor) adopted the new recommendations 

of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants relating to the accounting for pensions and other post-employment benefits 

using the prospective application method. The Partnership is amortizing the transitional obligation on a straight-line basis over 

16 years, which was the average remaining service period of employees expected to receive benefits under the benefit plan as of 

January 1, 2000.

For hourly employees covered by industry union defined benefit pension plans, earnings are charged with the Partnership’s 

contributions required under the collective agreements. 

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are derived from the following major product lines: pulp, paper, sales commissions and energy. Revenue is recognized 

from product sales when persuasive evidence of a sale exists, the sales price is fixed and determinable, goods have been delivered 

or title has transferred, and collectability is reasonably assured. Sales are reported net of discounts, allowances and vendor 

rebates. Amounts charged to customers for shipping and handling are recognized as revenue, and shipping and handling costs 

incurred by the Partnership are reported as cost of sales.

Foreign Currency Translation

The majority of sales are denominated in foreign currencies. Foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars using the 

temporal method as follows: monetary assets and liabilities at period end exchange rates; and revenues and expenses at exchange 

rates prevailing at the time the transaction occurs. Exchange gains and losses are reflected in income as incurred.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Partnership utilizes derivative financial instruments in the normal course of its operations as a means to manage its foreign 

exchange and commodity price risk. For example, from time to time, it purchases foreign exchange forward sales contracts to hedge 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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related foreign currency denominated accounts receivable balances and also enters into swap transactions to reduce its exposure to 

fluctuating natural gas prices. The Partnership records all derivatives at fair value and its policy is not to utilize derivative financial 

instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when the occurrence of events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable, as measured by comparing their net book value to the estimated future cash 

flows generated over their estimated remaining useful lives. Impaired assets are recorded at fair value, determined principally 

using discounted future cash flows expected from their use and eventual disposition.

Income Taxes

The Partnership is not directly subject to federal or provincial income taxes. The taxable income or loss of the Partnership is 

required to be allocated to the Partnership’s partners.

Major Maintenance Costs

The Partnership has adopted the deferral method of accounting for major maintenance costs. Under this method an asset is 

recorded when expenditures for maintenance costs related to major maintenance are incurred. This asset is then amortized over the 

period to which the maintenance relates. The Partnership has presented the related unamortized expenditures in prepaid expense 

and other assets, and other long-term assets, as appropriate.

3. Inventories 

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Pulp		  $	 52.7	 $	 55.2
Paper	 	 10.1	 	 15.9
Wood chips	 	 16.4	 	 21.5
Processing materials and supplies	 	 44.2	 	 42.8
			   $	 123.4	 $	 135.4

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

	 	 		          December 31, 2010
	 	 		  Accumulated 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 Cost	 amortization	 Net

Land and improvements	 $	 5.4	 $	 –	 $	 5.4
Asset retirement – landfill		  2.3		  0.9		  1.4
Buildings, machinery and equipment 		  1,356.1		  867.0		  489.1
Construction in progress	 	 3.7	 	 –		  3.7
	 		  $	 1,367.5	 $	 867.9	 $	 499.6

	 	 		          December 31, 2009
	 	 		A  ccumulated 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	C ost	 amortization	N et

Land and improvements	 $	 5.4	 $	 –	 $	 5.4
Asset retirement – landfill		  2.3		  0.8		  1.5
Buildings, machinery and equipment		  1,344.1		  820.1		  524.0
Construction in progress		  3.2		  –		  3.2
	 		  $	 1,355.0	 $	 820.9	 $	 534.1
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5. Other Long-term Assets

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Pension benefit plan (n ote 6 )	 $	 14.0	 $	 11.3
Maintenance shutdown costs		  3.1		  5.4
Other	 	 0.5	 	 0.4
			   $	 17.6	 $	 17.1

6. Employee Future Benefits

The Partnership, in participation with Canfor, has funded and unfunded defined benefit plans, as well as a defined contribution plan, 

that provide pension, other retirement and post-employment benefits to substantially all salaried employees and for its hourly 

employees covered under collective agreements. The defined benefit plans are based on years of service and final average salary.  

The post-employment benefit plans are non-contributory and include a range of health care and other benefits.

Total employee future benefit expenses were as follows:
			   	Y ear ended	 	Y ear ended
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Pension plans 	 $	 6.0	 $	 5.0
Other employee future benefit plans 		  4.4		  3.5
Contributions to forest industry union plans	 	 6.4	 	 6.5
			   $	 16.8	 $	 15.0

Defined benefit plans

The measurement date for the determination of accrued benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for the employee future 

benefit plans is September 30, 2010. The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes for the Canfor salaried employees’ pension 

plans in which the Partnership’s employees participate was effective as of December 31, 2009. The most recent actuarial valuations for 

the other post retirement benefit plan and the Pension Bridge Plan were on September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. 

Information about the Partnership’s defined benefit plans, including its identified participation in the Canfor salaried employee 

pension plans and other post-employment benefit plans and the Pension Bridge Plan, are as follows:

Defined Benefit Plan Assets
	 		  2010	 2009

	 		  Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit	 Pension Benefit	 Other Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans

Fair market value of plan assets
	 Beginning of year	 $	 52.7	 $	 –	 $	 51.0	 $	 –
	A ctual return on plan assets	 	 5.0		  –	 	 0.1		  –
	E mployer contributions	 	 4.2		  1.2	 	 3.0		  1.0
	E mployee contributions	 	 0.3		  –	 	 0.3		  –
	 Benefit payments	 	 (3.0)		  (1.2)	 	 (1.7)		  (1.0)

	E nd of year 	 $	 59.2	 $	 –	 $	 52.7	 $	 –

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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	 			   Percentage of Plan Assets

	 		  2010	 2009

Plan assets consist of the following:
		E  quity securities	 	 68%	 	 58%
		D  ebt securities	 	 32%	 	 41%
		O  ther	 	 –	 	 1%
			   	 100%	 	 100%

Defined Benefit Plan Obligations								     
	 		  2010	 2009

	 		  Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit	 Pension Benefit	 Other Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)  	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans

Accrued benefit obligation		  				    		
	 Beginning of year	 $	 68.4	 $	 44.3	 $	 60.5	 $	 37.1
	C urrent service cost 	 	 3.7		  0.8	 	 2.9		  0.7
	I nterest cost 	 	 4.3		  3.0	 	 4.0		  2.5
	E mployee contributions	 	 0.3		  –	 	 0.3		  –
	 Benefit payments	 	 (3.0)		  (1.2)	 	 (1.7)		  (1.0)
	A ctuarial loss	 	 13.1		  11.0	 	 2.4		  5.0
	E nd of year	 $	 86.8	 $	 57.9	 $	 68.4	 $	 44.3

Reconciliation of the Funded Status of the Defined Benefit Plans to the Amounts Recorded in the Financial Statements

	 		  2010	 2009

	 		  Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit	 Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans

Fair market value of plan assets	 $	 59.2	 $	 –	 $	 52.7	 $	 –
Accrued benefit obligation	 	 (86.8)		  (57.9)	 	 (68.4)		  (44.3)
Funded status of plans – deficit	 	 (27.6)		  (57.9)	 	 (15.7)		  (44.3)

Employer contributions after measurement date	 	 4.7		  0.3	 	 0.8		  0.3
Unamortized transitional obligation (asset)	 	 (0.7)		  4.0	 	 (0.8)		  4.7
Unamortized past service costs	 	 2.1		  -	 	 2.2		  -
Unamortized net actuarial loss (gain)	 	 28.9		  7.4	 	 18.2		  (3.9)

Accrued benefit asset (liability)	 $	 7.4	 $	 (46.2)	 $	 4.7	 $	 (43.2)

The accrued benefit asset (liability) is included  

in the Partnership’s balance sheet as follows:

Other long-term assets (n ote 5 )	 $	 14.0	 $	 –	 $	 11.3	 $	 –
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 	 –		  –	 	 (0.8)		  –
Long-term liabilities (n ote 9 )	 	 (6.6)		  (46.2)	 	 (5.8)		  (43.2)
			   $	 7.4	 $	 (46.2)	 $	 4.7	 $	 (43.2)
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Included in the above pension and other retirement benefit provisions and fair value of plan assets at year-end are the following 

amounts in respect of plans that are not fully funded:

	 		  2010	 2009

	 		  Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit	 Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans

Fair market value of plan assets	 $	 59.2	 $	 –	 $	 52.7	 $	 –
Accrued benefit obligation	 	 (86.8)		  (57.9)	 	 (68.4)		  (44.3)
Funded status – plan deficit	 $	 (27.6)	 $	 (57.9)	 $	 (15.7)	 $	 (44.3)

Included in the $27.6 million pension plan deficit noted above, is $12.0 million relating to the Pension Bridge Plan and other pension 

plans, for which no funding obligation is required (2009 – $11.3 million). 

The expense for the Partnership sponsored defined benefit plans are as follows:

	 		  2010	 2009

			   Incurred in	M atching	R ecognized	I ncurred in	 Matching	R ecognized 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 Year	A djustments1	 in Year	Y ear	A djustments1	 in Year

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Current service cost,  
	 net of employee contributions	 $	 3.7	 $	 –	 $	 3.7	 $	 2.9	 $	 –	 $	 2.9
Interest cost		  4.3		  –		  4.3	 	 4.0		  –		  4.0
Return on plan assets		  (5.0)		  0.9		  (4.1)	 	 (0.1)		  (3.8)		  (3.9)
Actuarial loss (gain)		  13.1		  (11.6)		  1.5	 	 2.4		  (1.4)		  1.0
Plan amendments		  –		  0.1		  0.1	 	 –		  0.2		  0.2
Amortization of transitional obligation 		  –		  –		  –	 	 –		  (0.1)		  (0.1)
		  	 $	 16.1	 $	 (10.6)	 $	 5.5	 $	 9.2	 $	 (5.1)	 $	 4.1

Other Benefit Plans
Current service cost,  
	 net of employee contributions	 $	 0.8	 $	 –	 $	 0.8	 $	 0.7	 $	 –	 $	 0.7
Interest cost		  3.0		  –		  3.0	 	 2.5		  –		  2.5
Actuarial loss (gain)		  11.0		  (11.2)		  (0.2)	 	 5.0		  (5.6)		  (0.6)
Amortization of transitional obligation 		  –		  0.8		  0.8		  –	 	 0.8		  0.8
		  	 $	 14.8	 $	 (10.4)	 $	 4.4	 $	 8.2	 $	 (4.8)	 $	 3.4

(1)  A cco unt in g a d ju s tm e nt s to a l l o c a te co s t s to d i f f e r e nt p e r i o d s s o a s to r e co gn ize th e l o n g - te r m n at ur e o f  e m p l o y e e f u t ur e b e n ef i t s .

Significant Assumptions

The actuarial assumptions used in measuring the Partnership’s defined benefit plan provisions are as follows:

	 		  2010	 2009

	 		  Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit	 Pension Benefit	O ther Benefit 
( w e i ghte d a v e r a g e a s s um p t i o n s)	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans	 Plans

Accrued benefit obligation as of December 31:
	D iscount rate	 	 5.25%		  5.5%	 	 6.25 %		  6.75 %
	R ate of compensation increase	 	 3.0%		  n/a	 	 3.0 %		  n/a
Benefit costs for year ended December 31:
	D iscount rate	 	 6.25%		  6.75%	  	 6.60 %		  6.7 %
	E xpected long-term rate of return on plan assets	 	 7.5%		  n/a	  	 7.5 %		  n/a
	R ate of compensation increase	 	 3.0%		  n/a	  	 3.0 %		  n/a

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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Assumed health care cost trend rates

( w e i ghte d a v e r a g e a s s um p t i o n s) 	 2010	 2009

Initial health care cost trend rate	 	 7.16%	 	 7.40%
Ultimate health care trend rate	 	 4.10%	 	 4.10%
Year ultimate rate is reached	 	 2029	 	 2029

Sensitivity analysis

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the other benefit plans. A one percentage 

point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects for 2010:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 1% Increase	 1% Decrease

Accrued benefit obligation	 $	 10.7	 $	 (8.6)
Total of service and interest cost	 $	 0.8	 $	 (0.5)

7. Asset Retirement Obligations

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Balance beginning of year	 $	 3.0	 $	 2.8
Accretion expense	 	 0.1	 	 0.2
Balance end of year	 $	 3.1	 $	 3.0

The Partnership’s asset retirement obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $40.6 million to remediate the 

landfills at the end of their useful lives. Payments relating to landfill closure costs are expected to occur at periods ranging from 

32 to 40 years which have been discounted at 5.8% and 6.3%, respectively. The estimated fair value is $3.1 million and the amount 

is included in long-term liabilities.

The Partnership has certain assets that have indeterminate useful lives and, therefore, there is an indeterminate settlement 

date for the related asset retirement obligation. As a result, no asset retirement obligations were recorded for these assets. These 

assets include, for example, wastewater and effluent ponds that will have to be drained once the related operating facility is closed 

and storage sites for which removal of chemicals and other related materials will be required once the related operating facility is 

closed. Once the useful life of these assets becomes determinable and an estimate of fair value can be made, an asset retirement 

obligation will be recorded.

8. Credit Facilities and Long-term Debt

At December 31, 2010 the Partnership has outstanding long-term debt of $109.4 million (2009 – $115.1 million, US$110.0 million for 

both 2010 and 2009) in the form of unsecured US dollar private placement notes (the Notes). The Notes bear interest at 6.41% and 

are repayable in full on their maturity date of November 30, 2013. 

The Partnership has a $40 million bank credit facility with a maturity date of November 30, 2011, of which $0.5 million was 

utilized at December 31, 2010 for a standby letter of credit issued for general business purposes. In addition, the Partnership has 

arranged a separate facility with a maturity date of November 30, 2011, to cover the $13.2 million standby letter of credit issued to  

BC Hydro under the Energy Purchase Agreement. Interest and other costs of the bank credit facility are at prevailing market rates.

The Notes and bank credit agreements each contain similar financial covenants including a maximum allowable debt:EBITDA 

leverage ratio and minimum required EBITDA:interest coverage ratio. The Partnership remained in compliance with all covenants 

at December 31, 2010 and throughout the year.

The fair value of long-term debt at December 31, 2010 was $117.8 million (US$118.4 million). 
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9. Long-term Liabilities

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Pension obligations under defined benefit plans (n ote 6 )	 $	 6.6	 $	 5.8
Post-employment benefits (n ote 6)	 	 46.2	 	 43.2
Other pension obligations	 	 0.2	 	 –
Derivative financial instruments (n ote 13)	 	 –	 	 1.2
Asset retirement obligations (n ote 7 )	 	 3.1	 	 3.0
			   $	 56.1	 $	 53.2

10. Capital Disclosures

The Partnership’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its assets and maintain a globally competitive cost structure, 

continue as a going concern and provide returns to its partners in the form of distributions and capital appreciation. In addition, the 

Partnership works with relevant stakeholders to ensure the safety of its operations and employees, and to remain in compliance 

with all environmental regulations.

The Partnership’s capital is comprised of net debt and Partners’ equity:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 December 31, 2010	 December 31, 2009

Total debt	 $	 109.4	 $	 115.1
Cash and cash equivalents	 	 (64.2)	 	 (13.5)
Net debt	 	 45.2	 	 101.6
Total Partners’ equity1 	 	 523.2	 	 529.1
			   $	 568.4	 $	 630.7

(1)  E xc l u d e s a cc um ul ate d o th e r co m p r e h e n s i v e in co m e – n ote 16 .

Management determines the level of cash distributions based on the level of cash flow from operations before changes in 

non-cash working capital and long-term deferred maintenance, less actual capital expenditures (net of Green Transformation 

Program reimbursements). During the year distributions are based on estimates of full year cash flow and capital spending; thus 

distributions may be adjusted as these estimates change. It is expected that normal seasonal fluctuations in non-cash working 

capital will be funded from cash resources or the revolving short-term credit facility, and thus will not significantly affect the level 

of distributions.

The Partnership’s long-term debt and short-term credit facility agreements contain leverage and interest ratio covenants, as 

described in note 8.

11. Related Party Transactions

The Partnership purchased wood chips and hog fuel from Canfor sawmills in the amount of $126.2 million in 2010 (2009 – $119.4 million). 

The Partnership also purchased wood chips from Lakeland Mills Ltd., in which Canfor owns a one-third interest in the amount of  

$6.1 million in 2010 (2009 – $3.9 million). Purchased wood chips and hog fuel are included in manufacturing and product costs.

Effective July 1, 2006, the Partnership entered into a services agreement under which Canfor provides certain business and 

administrative services to the Partnership. Total value of the services provided in 2010 was $3.0 million (2009 – $3.0 million), included 

in manufacturing and product costs and selling and administration costs.  

Effective July 1, 2006, the Partnership entered into an incidental services agreement with Canfor, under which the Partnership 

provides certain business and administrative services to Canfor. Total value of the services provided in 2010 was $1.7 million  

(2009 – $1.7 million), included in manufacturing and product costs and selling and administration costs.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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The Partnership markets bleached chemi-thermo mechanical pulp production from Canfor’s Taylor Pulp Mill (Taylor) for which 

it earned commissions totaling $1.7 million in 2010 (2009 – $1.9 million), included in sales. The Partnership also purchased chemi-

thermo mechanical pulp from Taylor for resale totaling $1.5 million in 2010 (2009 – $1.7 million). The Partnership sold NBSK pulp to 

Taylor for packaging use totaling $3.0 million in 2010 (2009 – $2.3 million). In respect of the products marketed and services provided 

for Taylor, the Partnership held balances of $22.2 million in accounts receivable – trade (2009 – $24.4 million) and $23.6 million in 

accounts payable (2009 – $24.5 million) to Canfor at December 31, 2010.

In October of 2010, Canfor sold its 50% ownership of Howe Sound Pulp and Paper Limited Partnership (HSLP). Until this 

time, the Partnership marketed the NBSK pulp produced by HSLP, for which it earned commissions totaling $1.8 million in 2010  

(2009 – $2.4 million), included in sales. In respect of the products marketed and service provided for HSLP, the Partnership held 

balances of $1.0 million in accounts receivable – trade (2009 – $16.5 million) and $8.9 million in accounts payable (2009 – $17.6 million) 

to Canfor at December 31, 2010. As a result of the sale of HSLP by Canfor, the Partnership’s agreement to market HSLP pulp was 

terminated by the buyer and as compensation the Partnership received a contract termination fee of $1.3 million from HSLP, included 

in selling and administration costs.

Under the agreements for the marketing of production from Taylor, the Partnership assumes the customer credit risk.  

Accordingly, the Partnership records on its balance sheet the accounts receivable from the customer and the accounts payable to 

Canfor for sales made under those agreements.

At December 31, 2010, a total of $12.0 million (2009 – $16.3 million) was outstanding as accounts payable to Canfor in respect of 

purchases of wood chips, hog fuel, services and amounts paid on behalf of the Partnership. At December 31, 2010 a total of $0.4 million 

(2009 – $0.4 million) was payable to Lakeland Mills Ltd. for wood chips.

During 2010, the Partnership declared distributions totaling $183.9 million to its limited partners. Distributions to Canfor were 

$92.3 million, of which $72.6 million was paid, with the balance of $19.7 million recorded in accounts payable as at December 31, 2010.  

Distributions to the Fund were $91.6 million, of which $72.1 million was paid, with the balance of $19.5 million recorded in accounts 

payable as at December 31, 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Partnership declared distributions totaling $18.6 million to 

its limited partners. Distributions to Canfor were $9.4 million, of which $6.5 million was paid, with the balance of $2.9 million recorded 

in accounts payable as at December 31, 2009. Distributions to the Fund were $9.2 million, of which $6.4 million was paid, with the 

balance of $2.8 million recorded in accounts payable as at December 31, 2009. 

These transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount 

of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

12. Net Income per Partnership Unit

Basic net income per Partnership unit is based on the weighted average number of Limited Partnership units outstanding during 

the year. All outstanding Partnership units were issued on July 1, 2006, and there was no change in the number of outstanding 

Partnership units during the year.

13. Financial Instruments

Classification of Financial Instruments

The Partnership has classified its cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading. Accounts receivable are classified as loans  

and receivables and are measured at amortized cost. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, distributions payable, operating 

loan and long-term debt, including interest payable, are classified as other liabilities, all of which are measured at amortized cost. 

Derivative instruments are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value. The Partnership has no derivatives embedded in its financial 

or non-financial contracts that are not closely related to the host contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Financial Risk Management

The Partnership is exposed to a number of risks as a result of holding financial instruments. These risks include credit risk, liquidity 

risk and market risk.

Risk management is carried out by the risk management committee under a “Risk Management Controls Policy”. The policy sets 

out the responsibilities, reporting and counter party credit and communication requirements associated with all of the Partnership’s 

risk management activity. Responsibility for overall philosophy, direction and approval is that of the Board of Directors.

I) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Partnership if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 

its contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Partnership to credit risk include cash and cash 

equivalents, accounts receivable and derivatives.

In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss, cash on deposit is held with major Canadian and international financial institutions.   

The cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2010 was $64.2 million. The Partnership does not believe there is any 

significant credit risk associated with cash on deposit held in major Canadian and international financial institutions.

The Partnership utilizes a combination of credit insurance and self-insurance to manage the risk associated with trade 

receivables. Approximately 87% of the outstanding trade receivables are covered under credit insurance. In addition, the 

Partnership requires letters of credit on certain export trade receivables and periodically discounts these letters of credit without 

recourse. The Partnership recognizes the sale of the letters of credit on the settlement date, and accordingly reduces the related 

trade accounts receivable balance. At December 31, 2010, the Partnership had reduced the trade accounts receivable balance  

by $39.0 million due to discounting of letters of credit. The Partnership’s trade receivable balance at December 31, 2010 was  

$108.0 million. The Partnership believes that its approach to managing credit risk associated with the collection of outstanding trade 

accounts receivable is appropriate in the current credit market.

II) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Partnership 

manages liquidity risk through management of its capital structure in conjunction with cash flow forecasting including anticipated 

investing and financing activities, and use of the bank credit facility to meet short-term working capital requirements. 

The Partnership also reviews on an ongoing basis, the level of distributions, capital expenditures and timing of scheduled 

major maintenance outages and may adjust these amounts periodically to manage cash resources. In addition, the Partnership 

periodically utilizes discounting of letters of credit on outstanding trade receivables to manage liquidity risk. At December 31, 2010, 

the impact of discounting of letters of credit accelerated cash collection and reduced the trade accounts receivable balance by  

$39.0 million. The Partnership believes it will be able to meet all of its financial obligations as they become due.

At December 31, 2010, the Partnership’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities totaled $139.3 million, all of which fall 

due for payment within one year of the balance sheet date. The Partnership’s distributions payable at December 31, 2010 totaled  

$39.2 million, which are payable on January 14, 2011.

III) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest 

rates, foreign currency and commodity prices.

a. Interest rate risk:

The Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk through its financial assets and financial obligations bearing variable interest rates 

and through its off-balance sheet lease obligations.  

The Partnership manages interest rate risk by maximizing the interest earned on excess funds while maintaining the liquidity 

necessary to meet day-to-day operating cash flow requirements and payment of monthly declared distributions to unitholders. 
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Fluctuations in market interest rates are not expected to have a material impact on the Partnership’s results of operations due 

to the short-term nature of the respective financial assets and obligations and the fixed interest rate on long-term debt.

The Partnership currently does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.

b. Currency risk:

The Partnership is exposed to foreign exchange risk. The Partnership’s products are sold globally with prices primarily denominated 

in US dollars or linked to prices quoted in US dollars with certain expenditures transacted in US dollars. In addition the Partnership 

holds financial assets and liabilities in US dollars. These primarily include US dollar bank accounts and investments, trade accounts 

receivable and long-term debt. 

The Partnership enters into US dollar forward sales contracts to reduce exposure to fluctuations in US exchange rates on US 

dollar denominated accounts receivable and accounts payable balances.

c. Commodity price risk:

The Partnership’s financial performance is dependent on the selling price of its products and the purchase price of raw material 

inputs. Consequently, the Partnership is exposed to changes in commodity prices for pulp and paper, as well as changes in fibre, 

freight, chemical and natural gas prices. The markets for pulp and paper are cyclical and are influenced by a variety of factors. 

These factors include periods of excess supply due to industry capacity additions, periods of decreased demand due to weak global 

economic activity, inventory destocking by customers and fluctuations in currency exchange rates. During periods of low prices, the 

Partnership is subject to reduced revenues and margins, which adversely impact profitability. 

The Partnership may periodically use derivative instruments to mitigate commodity price risk. For the year ended December 31, 2010 

the Partnership used derivative instruments to reduce exposure to natural gas prices.

In addition, the sensitivity of the Partnership’s results to currency fluctuations and price changes for its principal products and 

input costs, when operating at full capacity, is estimated to be as follows:  

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  un a u d i te d) 	 	 Impact on annual 
	 			N   et income

Canadian dollar – US $0.01 change per Canadian dollar	 		  $	 6
NBSK pulp – US $10 change per tonne	 		  	 7
Natural gas cost – $1 change per gigajoule	 		  	 4
Chip cost – $2 change per tonne	 		  	 5

Fair Value Hierarchy

Financial instruments recognized at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheet must be classified in one of the following three 

fair value hierarchy levels:

•	L evel 1 – measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	L evel 2 – measurement based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability;

•	L evel 3 – measurement based on inputs that are not observable (supported by little or no market activity) for the asset or liability.

The following table sets forth the carrying value and the fair value of the Partnership’s financial assets and liabilities. The table also 

identifies the levels per the fair value hierarchy where fair value is recognized in the balance sheet.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

	 	 	 	As at December 31, 2010
	 	 			   Fair Value 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 Carrying Value	 Fair Value	H ierarchy Level

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents1	 $	 64.2	 	 64.2		  1
Accounts receivable1	 	 139.6	 	 139.6		  2
Derivative assets2		  1.1		  1.1		  2

Financial liabilities:
Account payable and accrued liabilities1	 $	 136.8	 	 136.8		  2
Distributions payable1	 	 39.2	 	 39.2		  2
Long-term debt3	 	 109.4	 	 117.8		N  /A
Derivative liabilities2	 	 2.5	 	 2.5		  2

(1) 	F a i r  v a l u e a p p r ox im ate s c a r r y in g v a l u e d u e to th e s h o r t  te r m n at ur e o f  th e s e in s tr um e nt s .

( 2 ) 	T  h e f a i r  v a l u e o f  d e r i v a t i v e in s t r um e nt s i s  b a s e d o n q u ote d m a r ket p r ice s f o r co m p a r a b l e co ntr a c t s a n d r e p r e s e nt s th e a m o unt th e P a r tn e r s h ip w o ul d h a v e r e ce i v e d f r o m ,  

o r p a i d to ,  a  co unte r p a r t y to un w in d th e co ntr a c t  a t  th e m a r ket r a te s in e f f e c t  a t  th e b a l a n ce s h e et d a te s a n d th e r e f o r e d e r i v a t i v e in s t r um e nt s a r e c l a s s i f i e d w i th in L e v e l  2 o f 

th e f a i r  v a l u e h i e r a r c h y e s t a b l i s h e d b y s e c t i o n 3 8 6 2 .  D e r i v a t i v e a s s et s a r e r e co r d e d in o th e r a cco unt s r e ce i v a b l e a n d d e r i v a t i v e l i a b i l i t i e s a r e r e co r d e d in a cco unt s p a y a b l e 

a n d a cc r u e d l i a b i l i t i e s in th e co n s o l i d a te d b a l a n ce s h e et .

(3 ) 	R e co r d e d a t  a m o r t i ze d co s t .

Derivative Instruments

Periodically, the Partnership uses derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to risks associated with fluctuations in foreign 

exchange rates, pulp and natural gas prices.  

For the year ended December 31, 2010 the Partnership recorded a net gain on derivative financial instruments of $1.5 million  

(2009 – net loss of $1.5 million) relating to settlement of maturing contracts during the year and the revaluation to market of outstanding 

contracts at the end of the year, for natural gas swaps and US dollar forward contracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 the Partnership recorded losses of $3.7 million (2009 – $7.6 million) relating to 

settlement of maturing natural gas swaps as a charge to non-operating income. At December 31, 2010 the Partnership had 

outstanding commodity swaps hedging future natural gas purchases of 0.6 million gigajoules extending to October, 2011. At 

December 31, 2010 the unrealized loss of $2.5 million (2009 – $3.5 million) on these outstanding commodity swaps is recorded as a 

liability in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 the Partnership recorded a net gain of $4.2 million (2009 – $4.0 million) on settlement 

of maturing US dollar forward contracts as a credit to non-operating income. At December 31, 2010 the Partnership had outstanding 

US dollar forward contracts of $60.0 million extending to April, 2011. At December 31, 2010 the unrealized gain of $1.1 million  

(2009 – $1.1 million) on these outstanding US dollar forward contracts is recorded as an asset in other accounts receivable.

14. Supplementary Cash Flow Information

	 		  Year ended	Y ear ended 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 December 31 2010	D ecember 31 2009

Decrease (increase) in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable – trade and other	 $	 (3.5)	 $	 (33.4)
Insurance receivable	 	 –	 	 7.3
Inventories	 	 11.9	 	 41.3
Prepaid expenses and other assets	 	 (3.4)	 	 (1.8)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 	 	 (7.4)	 	 18.4
			   $	 (2.4)	 $	 31.8

Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures – cash	 $	 38.7	 $	 17.3
Less amount reimbursable – Green Transformation Program	 	 (26.7)	 	 –
	 		  	 12.0		  17.3
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets	 	 0.5	 	 –
Capital expenditures accruals – net	 	 0.6	 	 (3.8)
			   	 13.1	 	 13.5

Net interest paid	 $	 7.5	 $	 9.0
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15. Distributions

The Partnership declared distributions in the twelve months of 2010 as follows:

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s ,  e xce p t p e r un i t  a m o unt s)

				A    mount per 
Record Date	 Payable Date	 Partnership Unit $	A mount $

January 29, 2010	F ebruary 15, 2010	 0.08	 5.7
February 26, 2010	 March 15, 2010	 0.12	 8.5
March 31, 2010	A pril 15, 2010	 0.12	 8.6
April 30, 2010	 May 14, 2010	 0.12	 8.6
May 31, 2010	 June 15, 2010	 0.20	 14.2
June 30, 2010	 July 15, 2010	 0.20	 14.3
July 30, 2010	A ugust 13, 2010	 0.22	 15.7
August 31, 2010	S eptember 15, 2010	 0.22	 15.7
September 30, 2010	O ctober 15, 2010	 0.25	 17.8
October 29, 2010	N ovember 15, 2010	 0.25	 17.8
November 30, 2010	D ecember 15, 2010	 0.25	 17.8
December 31, 2010	 January 14, 2011	 0.55	 39.2
 				    2.58	 183.9

16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

	 		  Year ended	Y ear ended 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 December 31, 2010	D ecember 31, 2009

Balance, beginning of year	 $	 –	 $	 0.1
Adjustment for exchange translation	 	 0.1	 	 (0.2)
Adjustment for derivatives recorded in other comprehensive income (loss)	 	 –	 	 0.1
Balance, end of year 	 $	 0.1	 $	 –

Since the inception of the Partnership, the total of the cumulative comprehensive income, less cumulative distributions is as follows:   

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s) 	 	 December 31, 2010

Cumulative comprehensive income	 		  $	 454.8
Cumulative distributions 	 		  	 (519.0)
	 		  			   (64.2)
Partners’ capital – at July 1, 2006	 		  	 587.5
Partners’ equity, end of year	 		  $	 523.3

17. Commitments and Contingencies

The Partnership has committed to the following operating leases for property, plant and equipment. As at December 31, 2010, the 

future minimum lease payments under these operating leases were as follows:  

(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)

2011	 		  	 $	 2.4
2012	 		  		  1.6
2013	 		  		  0.8
Thereafter	 		  	 1.1
Total minimum lease payments	 		  $	 5.9
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

The Partnership’s Energy agreement with BC Hydro provides for the sale of power production that exceeds an amended 

commitment of the original cogeneration project at the Prince George Pulp and Paper Mill. The obligation to produce power for 

the remainder of the term of the agreement, extending to August 2020, is reduced to 338 GWh per year from 390 GWh effective 

September 15, 2009. Under the amended Cogeneration Agreement with BC Hydro, if the cogeneration project generates less than 

the amended commitment in any year and the shortfall cannot be made up by excess generation in prior years or excess generation 

in the subsequent year, the Partnership is required to pay BC Hydro an amount equal to the uncorrected shortfall as a ratio of the 

annual requirement. Under the agreement, the Partnership is required to post a standby letter of credit as security in annually 

decreasing amounts as the minimum required amount of electricity is generated. As of December 31, 2010, the Partnership has no 

repayment obligation under the terms of the agreement and a standby letter of credit in the amount of $13.2 million has been issued 

to BC Hydro.

Significant contractual commitments relating to the construction of capital assets totaled $6.5 million at December 31, 2010  

(2009 – nil). These commitments related to projects funded under the Canadian Federal government’s Green Transformation Program.

18. Pulp and Paper Green Transformation Program 

On October 9, 2009 the Canadian Federal government announced the allocation of credits from the billion dollar Pulp and Paper 

Green Transformation Program (the Program). The Partnership has been allocated $122.2 million from the Program announced by 

the Canadian government on June 17, 2009. The Program is designed as a reimbursement of funds to be spent on qualifying energy 

and environmental capital projects. Credits may be used until the program end date of March 31, 2012. The Partnership has received 

Program approval to proceed with three projects totaling $115.6 million. The Partnership expects to submit further projects over 

the balance of 2011. As of December 31, 2010 the Partnership has incurred $38.1 million and received reimbursements totaling  

$20.2 million with the balance of $17.9 million receivable on December 31, 2010. The Partnership submits claims for expenditures on 

approved projects under the Program on a monthly basis. These projects are expected to provide economic and environmental benefits 

to the Partnership’s operations.

 

19. Segmented Information(a)

	 	 	 		  Unallocated 
(m i l l i o n s o f  d o l l a r s)	 Pulp	 Paper	 Costs	T otal

Year ended December 31, 2010
Sales to external customers(b)	 $	 857.2	 $	 142.6	 $	 1.3	 $	 1,001.1
Sales of pulp to paper segment(c)	 	 89.6		  (89.6)	 	 –		  –
Operating income (loss)	 	 198.1		  0.5	 	 (15.9)		  182.7
Amortization	 	 44.1		  3.0	 	 0.3		  47.4
Capital expenditures, net	 	 10.9		  1.3	 	 0.9		  13.1
Identifiable assets	 $	 707.5	 $	 63.7	 $	 96.1	 $	 867.3

Year ended December 31, 2009	 				    	
Sales to external customers(b)	 $	 690.0	 $	 122.5	 $	 1.0	 $	 813.5
Sales of pulp to paper segment(c)	 	 63.7		  (63.7)	 	 –		  –
Operating income (loss)	 	 11.7		  10.6	 	 (10.3)		  12.0
Amortization	 	 45.9		  3.3	 	 0.2		  49.4
Capital expenditures, net	 	 13.2		  0.1	 	 0.2		  13.5
Identifiable assets	 $	 739.3	 $	 64.4	 $	 33.9	 $	 837.6

(a) 	O  p e r at i o n s a r e p r e s e nte d b y p r o d u c t l in e s .  O p e r at i o n s a r e co n s i d e r e d to b e in o n e g e o gr a p h ic a r e a s in ce a l l  p r o d u c t i o n f a c i l i t i e s a r e in C a n a d a .  S ub s t a nt ia l l y  a l l  s a l e s a r e 

e x p o r te d o u t s i d e C a n a d a ,  w i th s a l e s to th e U n i te d S t a te s r e p r e s e nt in g 3 7 % ( 2 0 0 9 – 3 6%) .

(b ) 	S  a l e s to th e l a r g e s t  c u s to m e r r e p r e s e nte d a p p r ox im ate ly 12 % o f  p u l p s e gm e nt s a l e s ( 2 0 0 9 – 9 %) . 

(c ) 	S  a l e s o f  s l u s h p u l p to th e p a p e r s e gm e nt a r e a cco unte d f o r a t  a p p r ox im ate m a r ket v a l u e .  T h e s a l e s a r e t r a n s a c te d a s a co s t  t r a n s f e r a n d a r e n ot  r e f l e c te d in P u l p s a l e s .
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Canfor Corporation
Vancouver, British Columbia
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Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.
Langley, British Columbia
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Chairman of the Board
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Chairman, Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.
Prince George, British Columbia
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Director 
Senior Strategy Advisor, Davis LLP
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William W. Stinson (1)(3)

Director 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Westshore Terminals Income Fund
Vancouver, British Columbia

Stan E. Bracken-Horrocks, FCA(1)(3)

Director 
Retired Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP
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Chairman Emeritus of the Board
Canfor Corporation
Vancouver, British Columbia
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(3 ) 	 M e m b e r o f  th e C o m p e n s at i o n C o m m i t te e .

Joe Nemeth
President and Chief Executive Officer
Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.
Langley, British Columbia

Brett R. Robinson
Vice-President, Operations
Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.
Prince George, British Columbia

Terry D. Hodgins, CA
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.
West Vancouver, British Columbia

Sean Curran
Vice-President, Sales and Marketing
Canfor Pulp Holding Inc.
Delta, British Columbia
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Rick Cooper
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Robert Dufresne
General Manager, Northwood Pulp Mill 

Rick Pingel
General Manager, Global Logistics and Procurement 
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Company Information

Company information

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the shareholders  
of Canfor Pulp Products Inc. will be held at the  
Terminal City Club, Ferguson-Atkins Room,  
837 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia  
on Tuesday, May 3, 2011 at 11:30 a.m.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
CIBC Mellon Trust Company
Vancouver, Calgary, Regina, Winnipeg, Toronto,  
Montreal and Halifax

Stock Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange
Symbol: CFX

Investor Contact 
Terry Hodgins
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Telephone: 604.661.5421
Fax: 604.661.5226
Email: terry.hodgins @ canforpulp.com

Rick Remesch
Corporate Controller
Telephone: 604.661.5221
Fax: 604.661.5226
Email: rick.remesch @canforpulp.com

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Vancouver, BC

Canfor Pulp Products Inc. Head Office
230 – 1700 West 75th Avenue
Vancouver, BC  V6P 6G2

Telephone: 604.661.5241
Fax: 604.661.5226
Email: info @ canforpulp.com
Web: www.canforpulp.com

Canfor Pulp Products Inc. also produces an  
Annual Information Form. To obtain this publication  
visit the website www.canforpulp.com

Operations contact information

MILLS
Intercontinental Pulp
2533 Prince George Pulp Mill Road
PO Box 6000
Prince George, BC  V2N 2K3	  
Telephone: 250.563.0161 
Fax: 250.561.3921 

Northwood Pulp
5353 Northwood Pulp Mill Road
PO Box 9000
Prince George, BC  V2L 4W2	  
Telephone: 250.962.3600 
Fax: 250.962.3602 

Prince George Pulp and Paper
2789 Prince George Pulp Mill Road
PO Box 6000
Prince George, BC  V2N 2K3	  
Telephone: 250.563.0161 
Fax: 250.561.3627 

offices
Canfor Pulp and Paper
230 – 1700 West 75th Avenue
Vancouver, BC  V6P 6G2
Telephone: 604.661.5241
Fax: 604.661.5226 

Subsidiaries & Affiliates
Canfor Pulp and Paper Europe S.A.
2, Avenue de la Foresterie
B-1170 Brussels, Belgium	  
Telephone: (+32) 2.674.7950 
Fax: (+32) 2.672.3792 

Canfor Pulp Japan Corporation
5F Toranomon 40MT Building
5-13-1 Toramonon Minato-ku
Tokyo 105-0001 Japan
Telephone: (+81) 3.5425.1635
Fax: (+81) 3.5425.1388





 For more information on our sustainability efforts,  
 visit canforpulp.com.

230 –1700 W. 75th Ave., Vancouver, BC  | T :604.661.5241  |  canforpulp.com


